
 

 

Development Control Committee Agenda Published: Monday, 9 October 2023 
Tuesday, 17 October 2023  

The cost of printing this doc pack: 
The carbon cost of producing this doc pack: 

The cost of posting this doc pack: 

Approx. £24.57 (7 Copies) 
Approx. 16.38 tonnes 
Approx. £1.21 

 

Monday, 9 October 2023 
 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

A meeting of the Development Control Committee will be held on TUESDAY, 17 OCTOBER 
2023 in the Council Chamber, Ebley Mill, Ebley Wharf, Stroud at 6.00 pm 

 
Kathy O’Leary 

Chief Executive 
 

Please Note: The meeting is being held in the Council Chamber at Stroud District Council 
and will be streamed live on the Council’s YouTube Channel.  A recording of the meeting 
will be published onto the Council’s website.  The whole of the meeting will be recorded 
except where there are confidential or exempt items, which may need to be considered in 
the absence of press and public. 
 

If you wish to attend this meeting, please contact democratic.services@stroud.gov.uk. 
This is to ensure adequate seating is available in the Council Chamber. 

 
AGENDA 

  
1.   APOLOGIES  

To receive apologies for absence. 
  

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
To receive Declarations of Interest in relation to planning matters. 

  
3.   MINUTES (Pages 3 - 12) 

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 2023. 
  

4.   PLANNING SCHEDULE AND PROCEDURE FOR PUBLIC SPEAKING (Pages 13 
- 18) 
(Note: For access to information purposes, the background papers for the 
applications listed in the above schedule are the application itself and subsequent 
papers as listed in the relevant file.) 

  
4.1   LAND ADJACENT, 162 ARROWSMITH DRIVE, STONEHOUSE, 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE S.23/1900/NEWTPO (Pages 19 - 46)  
New TPO/0590 - Land Adjacent 162 Arrowsmith Drive, Stonehouse, 
Gloucestershire, GL10 2QR. 
 
  

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCeH_AmF0s-TShcYlM8Stweg
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@stroud.gov.uk


Development Control Committee  Agenda Published: Monday, 9 October 2023 
Tuesday, 17 October 2023  
 

4.2   LAND AT, GUNHOUSE LANE, BOWBRIDGE, STROUD S.23/1901/NEWTPO 
(Pages 47 - 84)  
TPO/0587 - Land at Gunhouse Lane, Stroud, Gloucestershire 2023. 
  

4.3   LAND AT, MIDDLE HILL, EASTCOMBE, STROUD S.23/1902/NEWTPO (Pages 
85 - 118)  
New TPO/0589 - Land At Middle Hill, Eastcombe, Gloucestershire. 
  

5.   PLANNING AND ENFORCEMENT KPI STATISTICS Q2 2023 (Pages 119 - 130) 
To provide planning and enforcement Key Performance Indicator Statistics for 
information. 

 
Members of Development Control Committee 

 
Councillor Martin Baxendale (Chair) Councillor Helen Fenton (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Martin Brown 
Councillor Victoria Gray 
Councillor Haydn Jones 
Councillor John Jones 
Councillor Gary Luff 
 

Councillor Jenny Miles 
Councillor Loraine Patrick 
Councillor Martin Pearcy 
Councillor Mark Ryder 
Councillor Lucas Schoemaker 
 

 



2023/24 

Development Control Committee Subject to approval at 
Tuesday, 12 September 2023 next meeting 
 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday, 12 September 2023 
 

6.00 - 9.08 pm 
 

Council Chamber 
 

Minutes 
Membership 

  Councillor Martin Baxendale (Chair)   Councillor Helen Fenton (Vice-Chair) 
  Councillor Martin Brown 
* Councillor Victoria Gray 
  Councillor Haydn Jones 
  Councillor John Jones 
  Councillor Gary Luff 
  Councillor Jenny Miles 
  Councillor Loraine Patrick  

  Councillor Martin Pearcy 
  Councillor Mark Ryder 
  Councillor Lucas Schoemaker 
  Councillor Catherine Braun 
  Councillor Gordon Craig 
  Councillor Lindsey Green 
  Councillor Ken Tucker  

*Absent  
 
Officers in Attendance 
Head of Development Management  
Majors & Environment Team Manager  
Senior Biodiversity Officer 

Locum Planning Lawyer 
Democratic Services and Elections Officer 
 

 
Other Member(s) in Attendance 
Councillors Brown, Craig, Green and Tucker.  
 
DCC.017 Apologies  
 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Gray. 
 
DCC.018 Declarations of Interest  
 
Councillor Miles stated that she was a Member of the Housing Committee who were the 
applicants of the second item however this would not affect her decision-making capacity. 
The Chair confirmed that legal advice had been sought prior to the meeting regarding this 
matter. 
 
DCC.019 Minutes  
 
RESOLVED That the Minutes of the meeting held on 25 July were approved as a 

correct record. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



2023/24 

Development Control Committee Subject to approval at 
Tuesday, 12 September 2023 next meeting 
 

DCC.020 Planning Schedule and Procedure for Public Speaking  
 
Representations were received and taken into account by the Committee in respect of 
Applications:  
  
1 S.17/0798/OUT 2 S.23/1157/VAR 

  
Late Pages relating to Scheduled Item 4.1 Land at Sharpness Docks, The Docks, 
Sharpness, Gloucestershire S.17/0798/OUT had been circulated to Committee prior to the 
meeting and were also made available during the meeting. 
 
DCC.021 Land at Sharpness Docks, The Docks, Sharpness, Gloucestershire 

S.17/0798/OUT  
 
The meeting was adjourned for a few minutes to allow the Members of the committee to 
read through the late pages.  
  
The Majors & Environment Team Manager introduced the application and showed the 
plans for the site. He explained that it was an outline application for a mixed-use 
regeneration scheme with tourism and leisure at its heart. The proposal included 3 main 
elements: a commercial element, a marina area and the residential section. The Majors & 
Environment Team Manager highlighted the following considerations:  
• The residential area was key for enabling the other elements of the site. The indicative 

plan for the residential area showed space for up to 300 dwellings with additional open 
space.  

• There was an error on page 21 of the reports pack, this was an outline application with 
full matters reserved.  

• The site was allocated as a strategic location within the current local plan.  
• The application had undergone independent viability tests which showed that not all of 

the policy requirements could be met therefore the application did not include any 
affordable housing or educational contributions.  

• The Health and Safety Executive (HSE) had proposed a consultation zone around the 
docks in order to effectively manage the risks of any hazardous substances.  

• The application included ecological mitigation, such as contributions and bat houses, 
as it was sited along the Severn Estuary. There would also be an ongoing landscape 
management plan to maintain the open spaces. 

• The proposed access was indicative and full details would be available at the reserved 
matters stage of development if the application was permitted. The application sought 
to make local infrastructural improvements and would include a travel plan to mitigate 
the M5 capacity issues.  

• The proposed site had multiple heritage assets such as listed buildings, conservation & 
archaeological areas and other various assets throughout. The impact for these could 
be mitigated as part of the reserved matters application and a condition had been 
included to protect the archaeological areas.   

• The environmental impact had been considered and a landscape visual impact 
assessment had been completed that concluded the impact would be mitigated over 
time. Further mitigations could also be implemented at the reserved matters stage if 
required. 

• There had been 1 additional objection raised, regarding the ecological impact, since 
the report had been written. 

 
The Majors & Environment Team Manager asked the committee to consider the key 
issues raised above when weighing up the planning balance. He stated that should the 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



2023/24 

Development Control Committee Subject to approval at 
Tuesday, 12 September 2023 next meeting 
 

committee be minded to permit the application they would be seeking delegated authority 
to Officers to permit the scheme subject to the end of the EIA consultation, the HRA sign 
off by Natural England and S106 agreement and subject to conditions outlined in the 
report. 
  
Councillor Green, a Ward Member for the area, highlighted her concerns for the 
application which included:  
• Sharpness docks was a fully working, industrial docks. The site was already a large 

employment area providing job opportunities for local residents and managing a wide 
variety of cargo. It was a strong business which had already seen expansions and 
diversifications.  

• Historic England highlighted the historic nature of the site which could meet the 
National Planning Policy Frameworks (NPPF) section 12 criteria, to be a designated 
heritage asset.  

• The proposed access via Oldminster road would not be suitable due to narrow pinch 
points, sharp bends and parked cars creating single carriageways. There were 
allotments and play areas located along Oldminster road which would be impacted by 
the additional traffic and the proposed new road would lead to smaller villages being 
used as a rat run.   

• There were no S106 contributions for education, libraries and no affordable housing. 
This would likely result in primary school children travelling in excess of 10 miles to get 
to school for no community benefit with a 19.7% profit for the developer.  

• The development would result in destruction to the special areas of interest such as 
the river and its many habitats. Alternative footpaths proposed would not be suitable 
and some would even require a vehicle to access. This development does not seek to 
enhance and improve biodiversity.  

• The HSE construction zone would rely on a private business changing the way it has 
worked for many years and would require ongoing management. 

• The proposed 300 houses would contribute to capacity issues at the M5 junction.  
  
Councillor Craig spoke as a Ward Member for the area, he explained that he was the 
chairman of the Bristol Channel Yachting association, and the Chair of the Gloucester 
harbour trustees neither of which had any direct connections with Canal and River trust or 
the Sharpness Docks. He asked the Committee to refuse the application for the following 
reasons: 
• Gloucestershire County Council had objected for various reasons including the lack of 

provisions for school places. There should be a guaranteed budget with the 
development to cover all social and infrastructure costs to prevent these falling on the 
taxpayer.  

• It was unacceptable that the application had made it this far through the process 
without any affordable housing provision.  

• Sharpness port was one of England’s most picturesque ports and already a place 
which attracted tourists. 

• The Severn Estuary was a unique attraction, the mitigation plans for which, were 
currently outdated.  

• Access to the site was unviable and narrow roads already struggled with the current 
capacity.  

• The site location was located downwind of the Sharpness dock, which handled cargo 
such as cement and ammonium nitrate, smells of which would carry downwind to the 
residential areas.  

• The Sharpness docks had ships coming and going 24 hours a day and all through the 
night, this would cause concerns regarding noise at antisocial hours.  

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2023/24 

Development Control Committee Subject to approval at 
Tuesday, 12 September 2023 next meeting 
 

• There was a risk of harm identified by the HSE due to the hazardous substances that 
were imported into Sharpness docks and they had advised houses not be built nearby 
unless steps could be taken by Sharpness Docks to mitigate these risks. 

  
Mr Chandler, the Place Planning Manager from the education planning and infrastructure 
team at Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) spoke in objection of the application and 
highlighted the following reasons:  
• GCC had raised a formal objection to the application due to insufficient funding to 

mitigate the impact of the development on the education and library structure.  
• The report recommended approval for the application without the necessary funding on 

the grounds of viability.  
• GCC had responded to both public consultations and engaged fully with the Case 

Officer and was surprised to see the comments on page 43 of the reports pack 
questioning what the capacity issues were.  

• The GCC objection statement contained the background of the request for funding, the 
local and national planning considerations and the most recent department for 
education guidance. This can be found at pages 7- 9 on the late pages document. 

• GCC does not receive funding from Central Government for education relating to new 
developments, basic need funding was only allocated to existing communities to meet 
population growth. However, for the periods of 2023-24 and 2024-25, GCC had been 
allocated no funds.  

• Appendix A of the late pages detailed the capacity for nearby schools and showed that 
85 pupils could be accommodated in Wotton under Edge which would require 5 
minibuses for transport and the remaining 25 pupils would need to travel even further. 
This was not in keeping with the Councils priorities for sustainability.  

  
Ms Smith, a local resident, spoke against the application and asked the committee to 
refuse the application for the following reasons:  
• The proposed development, situated on the hillside cliff top, would dominate the canal 

path in all directions and would stand out visually. 
• There was no other housing development with such a close proximity to the River 

Severn and would therefore be out of character.  
• The development was incompatible with the South West Marine Plan Seascape and 

Landscape Policy which had not been mentioned throughout the report. 
• The proposed site was bordered by saltmarsh and mudflats which were priority 

habitats within the marine protected area.  
• The South West Marine Plan and case law on the Habitats Regulations separately 

affirmed that ecological compensation was not a lawful option for this development.   
• The majority of the island area was currently used as open space for dog walking 

which would be greatly reduced. The alternative walks proposed were unsuitable and 
therefore would not provide appropriate mitigation.  

• The South West Marine Plan protected not only the Severn's natural environment and 
wildlife but also protected future operations of the docks from development. 

  
Ms Shipp, a local resident, spoke against the application and asked the committee to 
refuse the application for the following reasons: 
• If unmitigated, the development would have a significant localised adverse impact on 

the Severn Estuary through increased recreational pressure along the Severn Way. 
• The Severn way supported multiple rare and declining habitats for important species, it 

also offered an accessible walk along the banks of the river.  
• Often, this resulted in the salt marsh habitats becoming trampled and both wintering 

and breeding birds being disturbed.  

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



2023/24 

Development Control Committee Subject to approval at 
Tuesday, 12 September 2023 next meeting 
 

• The proposed development would bring additional residents to the areas which in turn 
would increase the use of the Severn Way. The alternative footpaths suggested do not 
offer the same level of accessibility or views and would therefore not likely be used. 

• The Habitat Regulations required an appropriate assessment to be carried out prior to 
approval of any development, which then must be endorsed by Natural England, this 
was not mentioned in the report.  

  
Mr Smith, spoke on behalf of the applicant, and highlighted the following points to the 
Committee: 
• The site was allocated in the current Stroud District Council Local Plan.  
• Regeneration of the site was a key driver when forming the plans.  
• The proposal would bring many benefits such as, new housing, leisure activities, public 

open space, employment and retail opportunities. 
• All technical issues had been addressed including ecology, HSE, highways, heritage 

and drainage.  
• The application presented provided more than just housing, it provided a robust 

framework to enable the delivery of the allocation within the Local Plan and its 
regeneration objectives.   

• This application was separate from the new proposed settlement in Sharpness which 
was facing challenges with the emerging Local Plan. 

• A viability assessment had been undertaken and independently verified by the district 
valuer which confirmed the financial challenges to regenerate the brownfield site. This 
meant there was limited funding for S106 contributions. 

• Acknowledging viability as part of the determination process was well established 
within planning process throughout England and specific guidance existed which 
recommended the use of review mechanisms. This would allow for the viability to be 
re-assessed as the development progressed.  

  
Councillors were given the opportunity to ask technical questions of the Officers, the 
following answers were given in response:  
• Affordable housing was not included within the application due to the viability of the 

scheme.  
• A light industrial marina involved less intrusive processes such as fixing and mending 

boats.  
• The application site was a brownfield site and looked to regenerate the surrounding 

areas where buildings had been previously removed.  
• There were 68 objections to the application in total.  
• The advice from HSE regarding the consultation zone would need to be settled as part 

of the reserved matters stage however the development was still viable if the docks 
refused to make any changes, it could result in a different layout or fewer houses than 
the indicative designs set out. 

• The access proposed was only indicative and full details would need to be sought for 
the reserved matters stage should the application be permitted.  

• Both bridges to the island site would be retained however there would likely be a 
weight limit attributed to one.  

• Condition 25 and 26 had been put in place to protect any potential archaeological 
remains, site designs may need to be revised in order work around any assets 
however any significant changes to the application would need to return to the 
Committee. 

• It was common for brownfield sites to face viability challenges due to the extra cost 
implications. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



2023/24 

Development Control Committee Subject to approval at 
Tuesday, 12 September 2023 next meeting 
 

• The viability of the scheme would continue to be assessed throughout the development 
and further S106 contributions will be requested if viable. 

  
Councillor Ryder and Councillor Haydn Jones queried the status of the South West Marine 
Plan and whether they were a statutory consultee for the application. Officers began to 
investigate this request and reported back to Councillors later in the meeting.  
  
The following answers were given in response to Councillor Haydn Jones: 
• The GCC Highways authority had considered the application and raised no objection to 

the scheme, therefore Officers were satisfied that there were no highways safety 
concerns at this stage.  

• The objection raised by the Wildfowl and Wetlands trust related to an out-of-date 
mitigation strategy. Whilst a new mitigation strategy was currently pending, the 
application would still be required to contribute to the latest strategy which would still 
benefit local schemes.  

• The Severn Estuary recreation and mitigation strategy is detailed on page 33 of the 
reports pack and sought to mitigate the increased recreational disturbance along the 
Severn Estuary through alternative footpaths, contributions, signage and sharing of 
information. 

  
Councillor John Jones raised concerns with the proposed access being in close proximity 
to a children’s play area and requested whether a 20mph speed limit could be imposed. 
The Majors & Environment Team Manager stated that it was outside of the Committees 
remit.  
  
The Head of Development Management responded to a question raised earlier in the 
meeting regarding the South West Marine Plan. She advised that the Officer 
recommendation was now to defer consideration and determination of application 
S.17/0798/OUT land at sharpness dock to a future meeting to enable the assessment of 
the need to consider the Southwest Marine Plan. 
  
Councillors continued to ask questions of the Officers and received the following 
responses:  
• The viability of the scheme would continue to be assessed throughout the development 

stages however this could result in changes in either direction if costs were to increase 
or if further funding was made available.   

• The application had been reviewed periodically throughout the process and although it 
was originally submitted in 2017, all of the data from the statutory consultees was up to 
date and had been revised within the last 12 months.  

• Condition 23 covered any issues with contaminated land within the development site. 
These had already been worked into the viability figures and a detailed plan would 
need to be submitted during the next phase of the application process.  

  
Councillor Haydn Jones requested for a high-level review of the application to be 
completed before returning to Committee, the Officers agreed.  
  
Councillor Haydn Jones Proposed the revised officer recommendation to defer the 
application and Councillor Ryder Seconded.  
  
After being put to a vote, the Motion was carried unanimously. 
  

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



2023/24 

Development Control Committee Subject to approval at 
Tuesday, 12 September 2023 next meeting 
 

RESOLVED To defer the consideration and determination of application 
S.17/0798/OUT land at Sharpness Dock to a future meeting to assess 
the need to consider the South West Marine Plan. 

 
DCC.022 Land North Of, Bradley Street, Wotton-Under-Edge, Gloucestershire 

S.23/1157/VAR  
 
The Majors & Environment Team Manager introduced the application and explained that it 
was a variation to an existing planning permission due to building control regulations, the 
changes were outlined as follows:  
• Chimneys had been removed and gable details had been altered in order to allow for 

the provision of solar panels.  
• The layout of the scheme had been amended and the position of dwelling and parking 

spaces altered.  
• A retaining wall feature had been added to the garden.  
The Majors & Environment Team Manager highlighted the key considerations of the site: 
• With the addition of the retaining wall, concerns had been raised regarding the local 

hedgehog populations. In response to these comments, additional wildlife corridors 
and gaps in the fencing had been created to mitigate the impact on hedgehogs. 

• The garden area had been levelled to allow for increased accessibility, however this 
had created the additional retaining wall, to reduce the impact of this on neighbouring 
properties the ground level had been reduced.    

He concluded by informing the committee that the revised plan numbers would be included 
in the application and the conditions would be updated to reflect the changes in ecology 
and additional conditions for the boundary treatment and retaining wall. 
  
Councillor Tucker spoke as a Ward Member for the area. He informed the Committee that 
he had not been made aware of the latest ecological additions to the site which were 
reflected in his concerns as below: 
• Vehicles exiting the site would need to reverse out onto a busy road, which had not 

been helped by the new revised layout.  
• The original plans showed a lack of consideration for local wildlife including hedgehogs 

which were known to forage around the site.   
• The addition of the retaining wall created issues for ground animals traveling through 

the site and would cause them to travel in either direction towards busy streets.  
• Although they were not a protected species, hedgehogs were listed as a declining 

species and steps should be taken to mitigate any impact.  
• The retaining wall on the border of the site would be topped with a 1.8m high fence 

which would significantly affect the view and light in the neighbouring property.  
  
Councillor Braun spoke as a Ward Member for the area and expressed her support for the 
New Council Homes to be built. She provided a brief overview of the history of the site and 
explained that, if approved, the development would provide 8 affordable homes for up to 
35 people. She echoed that the changes were a result of building regulations compliance 
and expressed her gratitude for the additional ecological amendments asking the 
Committee to approve the application.  
  
Miss Robbins, Trainee Project Manager, spoke on behalf of the applicant Stroud District 
Council (SDC). She asked the committee to support the application for the following 
reasons: 
• The Town Council, Ward Members and adjacent residents for the area had been 

consulted on all proposed changes and feedback received.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



2023/24 

Development Control Committee Subject to approval at 
Tuesday, 12 September 2023 next meeting 
 

• The need for affordable housing within the district remained high, and SDC were 
committed to providing high quality, energy efficient affordable housing. 

• Planning permission for the site had been granted in 2019 for 8 affordable dwellings, at 
that time 2 of the existing properties were still occupied and therefore the ground 
investigation had not yet been completed.  

• Once the initial ground investigation had been completed the designs were reviewed 
against updated new homes specifications which resulted in the changes proposed.   

• The updated application would now meet part M42 of the building regulations for 
accessible and adaptable dwellings which included level access to the home and 
gardens.  

• Creating the level access resulted in the additional retaining walls and in response to 
feedback, the height of the highest tier had been reduced in order to minimise the 
impact on neighbouring properties. 

• The number of parking spaces remained unchanged and the visitor space was still 
included.  

• The ecological impact had been carefully considered and an Ecologist had been 
commissioned to prepare a mitigation enhancement strategy. 

• Access points had been included for hedgehogs to move throughout the site and 
hedgehog houses would also be provided. Provisions would be made for swifts and 
bats in line with the Ecologists recommendations. 
  

Councillor Ryder questioned whether the sighting of the heat pumps was an item for the 
Committee to consider, the Majors & Environment Team Manager confirmed it would 
come under permitted development.  
  
In response to Councillor Schoemaker it was confirmed that the proposed wildlife corridor 
would be under the applicants control to maintain.  
  
In response to Councillors, the Majors & Environment Team Manager confirmed that the 
retaining wall on the western boundary would be approximately 3.6m at its highest point. 
That section had been reduced in length and stepped down with the garden in order to 
minimise the impact on the neighbouring properties. There was approximately a 3m gap 
between the retaining wall and the nearest neighbouring property.  
  
Councillor Schoemaker proposed the Officer advice to permit the application and 
Councillor Brown seconded. 
  
Councillor Haydn Jones expressed support for the application and for the additional 
hedgehog mitigation.  
  
The Majors & Environment Team Manager summarised the conditions which needed to be 
updated as part of the resolution which included:  
• Approved Plan Condition required an update. 
• Condition 4 – Updated to reflect the latest submission and request for a species list 

with a sign off requirement. 
• Condition 7 – updated the drawing numbers for the parking.  
• Condition 13 – Updated to require full details of the boundary treatment to be 

submitted.  
  
After being put to a vote, the Motion was carried unanimously.  
  
RESOLVED To permit the application subject to the amendments to conditions as 

listed above. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



2023/24 

Development Control Committee Subject to approval at 
Tuesday, 12 September 2023 next meeting 
 

DCC.023 Budget Monitoring Report Q1 2023/24  
 
There were no questions or comments. 
  
The meeting closed at 9.08 pm 

Chair  
 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Schedule 17/10/2023 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4 
17 October 2023 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Stroud District Council 
 

Planning Schedule 
 

17th October 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In cases where a Site Inspection has taken place, this is because Members felt they would be 
better informed to make a decision on the application at the next Committee. Accordingly, the 
view expressed by the Site Panel is a factor to be taken into consideration on the application 
and a final decision is only made after Members have fully debated the issues arising.

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



Planning Schedule 17/10/2023 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4 
17 October 2023 

 
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 
Procedure for Public Speaking 

 
The Council encourages public speaking at meetings of the Development Control 
Committee (DCC). This procedure sets out the scheme in place to allow members of 
the public to address the Committee at the following meetings: 
 
1. Scheduled DCC meetings     2.    Special meetings of DCC 

Introduction 

Public speaking slots are available for those items contained within the schedule of 
applications. Unfortunately, it is not permitted on any other items on the agenda.  
The purpose of public speaking is to emphasise comments and evidence already 
submitted through the planning application consultation process. Therefore, you must 
have submitted written comments on an application if you wish to speak to it at 
Committee. If this is not the case, you should refer your request to speak to the 
Committee Chair in good time before the meeting, who will decide if it is appropriate for 
you to speak. 
Those wishing to speak should refrain from bringing photographs or other documents 
for the Committee to view. Public speaking is not designed as an opportunity to 
introduce new information and unfortunately, such documentation will not be accepted. 
Scheduled DCC meetings are those which are set as part of the Council’s civic 
timetable. Special DCC meetings are irregular additional meetings organised on an ad-
hoc basis for very large or complex applications. 

Before the meeting 

You must register your wish to speak at the meeting. You are required to notify both 
our Democratic Services Team democratic.services@stroud.gov.uk and our Planning 
Team planning@stroud.gov.uk in advance and you have until noon one clear working 
day before the day of the meeting to let us know.  

At the meeting 

If you have registered to speak at the meeting, please try to arrive at the Council 
Chamber 10 minutes before the Committee starts so that you can liaise with the 
democratic services officer and other speakers who have also requested to speak in 
the same slot. Where more than one person wishes to speak, you may wish to either 
appoint one spokesperson or share the slot equally. 
If you have not registered to speak, your ability to do so will be at the discretion of the 
Chair. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4

mailto:democratic.services@stroud.gov.uk
mailto:planning@stroud.gov.uk


Planning Schedule 17/10/2023 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4 
17 October 2023 

 
1. Scheduled DCC Meetings 

 
There are three available public speaking slots for each schedule item, all of which are 
allowed a total of four minutes each: - 
 
- Town or Parish representative 
- Objectors to the application and  
- Supporters of the application (this slot includes the applicant/agent).  

 
There is an additional speaking slot available for all Ward Councillors with no time 
restraints.  
 
Please note: to ensure fairness and parity, the four-minute timeslot is strictly adhered 
to, and the Chairman will ask the speaker to stop as soon as this period has expired. 
 
Those taking part in public speaking should be aware of the following: 
 
- They will be recorded and broadcast as part of the Council’s webcasting of its 

meetings.  
- Webcasts will be available for viewing on the Council’s website and may also be 

used for subsequent proceedings e.g. at a planning appeal.  
- Names of speakers will also be recorded in the Committee Minutes which will be 

published on the website. 
- Speakers will not be allowed to ask questions of the Councillors or Officers; 

Committee Members are not able to question speakers directly but can seek points 
of clarification through the Chair with responses delivered by Officers. 

- Minutes of the meeting will be taken, and these will record the names of all speakers 
on all applications and the decision made. 

 
The order for each item on the schedule is: 
 
1. Introduction of item by the Chair 
2. Brief presentation and update by the planning case officer 
3. The Ward Member(s) 
4. Public Speaking: 

a. Parish Council 
b. Those who oppose the application 
c. Those who support the application 

5. Committee Members questions of officers 
6. Committee Members motion tabled and seconded 
7. Committee Members debate the application 
8. Committee Members vote on the application 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



Planning Schedule 17/10/2023 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4 
17 October 2023 

 
Special DCC meetings 
 
There are three available public speaking slots for each schedule item, all of which are 
allowed a total of up to eight minutes each: - 
 
- Town or Parish representative 
- Objectors to the application and  
- Supporters of the application (this slot includes the applicant/agent).  
 
There is an additional speaking slot available for all Ward Councillors with no time 
restraints. 
 
Please note:  to ensure fairness and parity, the eight-minute timeslot will be strictly 
adhered to and the Chairman will ask the speaker to stop after this time period has 
expired. 
 
Those taking part in public speaking should be aware of the following: 
 
- They will be recorded and broadcast as part of the Council’s webcasting of its 

meetings.  
- Webcasts will be available for viewing on the Council’s website and may also be 

used for subsequent proceedings e.g. at a planning appeal.  
- Names of speakers will also be recorded in the Committee Minutes which will be 

published on the website. 
- Speakers will not be allowed to ask questions of the Councillors or Officers; 

Committee Members are not able to question speakers directly but can seek points 
of clarification through the Chair with responses delivered by Officers. 

- Minutes of the meeting will be taken, and these will record the names of all speakers 
on all applications and the decision made. 

 
The order for each item on the schedule is: 
 
1. Introduction of item by the Chair 
2. Brief presentation and update by the planning case officer 
3. The Ward Member(s) 
4. Public Speaking 

a. Parish Council: 
b. Those who oppose the application 
c. Those who support the application 

5. Committee Member questions of officers 
6. Committee Member tabled and seconded 
7. Committee Members debate the application 
8. Committee Members vote on the application

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



Planning Schedule 17/10/2023 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4 
17 October 2023 

 
 
Parish Application Item  

 
Land Adjacent , 162 Arrowsmith Drive, Stonehouse. 01 Stonehouse Town 

Council S.23/1900/NEWTPO -  New TPO/0590 - Land Adjacent 162 
Arrowsmith Drive, Stonehouse, Gloucestershire, GL10 2QR 

 

 
Land At, Gunhouse Lane, Bowbridge. 02 Brimscombe And 

Thrupp Parish 
Council 

S.23/1901/NEWTPO -  New TPO/0587 - Land at Gunhouse 
Lane, Stroud, Gloucestershire 2023 

 

 
Land At, Middle Hill, Eastcombe. 03 Bisley With Lypiatt 

Parish Council S.23/1902/NEWTPO -  New TPO/0589 - Land At Middle Hill, 
Eastcombe, Gloucestershire 

 

 
 

 
  

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.1 
17 October 2023 

Item No:  01 
Application No. S.23/1900/NEWTPO 
Site Address Land Adjacent, 162 Arrowsmith Drive, Stonehouse, Gloucestershire 
Town/Parish Stonehouse Town Council 
Grid Reference 380966,206255 
Application Type New Tree Preservation Order  
Proposal New TPO/0590 - Land Adjacent 162 Arrowsmith Drive, Stonehouse, 

Gloucestershire, GL10 2QR 
Recommendation Confirm the Tree Preservation Order without modification 
Call in Request Requested by Head of Development Management 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4.1



 

 
Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.1 
17 October 2023 

Applicant’s 
Details 

Stroud District Council 
Ebley Mill, Ebley Wharf, Stroud, Gloucestershire, GL5 4UB 

Agent’s Details None 
Case Officer Francesca Ind 
 CONSULTEES 
Comments 
Received 

Stonehouse Town Council 

Constraints Stonehouse Town Council     
 OFFICER’S REPORT 

 
CONFIRMATION OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 
 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
To consider the objections to the making of Stroud District Council Tree Preservation Order No 
0590 - Land Adjacent 162 Arrowsmith Drive and to determine whether or not to confirm the 
Order.  
 
An effective tree preservation order makes it an offence to do any works to the protected trees 
without first gaining consent from the Local Planning Authority unless such works are covered 
by an exemption within the Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) 
Regulations 2012.  
 
INTRODUCTION  
A provisional tree preservation order has been served to protect an Oak tree on Land adjacent 
162 Arrowsmith Drive. The TPO was made in response to information from the County Council 
that the tree was to be imminently felled, which was indeed the case and so the need for a 
Tree Preservation Order was considered expedient. 
 
The order was served upon the owner and occupiers of this site, along with owners and 
occupiers of any land adjoining the land on which the tree is situated, this is in accordance with 
Regulation 5 of the Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations 
2012. Despite a land registry search there still remains some uncertainty on the ownership of 
this land due to the tree being situated on the boundary of 162 Arrowsmith Drive and land 
which is owned by Maidenhill School, in this instance both were served this order. 
 
These parties were given 28 days to object or make written representations about the making 
of the tree preservation order. A copy of the order is appended to this report. 
 
As an objection has been received, the decision whether to confirm the order is brought before 
committee. 
 
DESCRIPTION AND APPRAISAL OF TREES 
The provisional order covers 1x Oak tree (T1) identified on the site location plan attached to 
this report.  
 
It is felt that the tree is worthy of a preservation order by virtue of its public amenity value. The 
tree is prominent being located along a public right of way and within close proximity to the 
school. It has no significant defects and appears in good health from a visual ground level 

Page 20

Agenda Item 4.1



 

 
Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.1 
17 October 2023 

assessment. It is considered expedient to make this TPO in the interests of the visual amenity 
of this area, the size and position of the tree contributes positively and enhances the character 
of the surrounding area. 
 
NATIONAL AND LOCAL PLANNING POLICIES 
National Planning Policy Framework September 2023 
Available to view at:  
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/2116950.pdf  
 
Stroud District Local Plan. 
Policies together with the preamble text and associated supplementary planning documents 
are available to view on the Councils website: https://www.stroud.gov.uk/LocalPlan   
Local Plan policies considered include: 
ES8 - Trees, hedgerows and woodlands. 
 
Stonehouse NDP Made on 22nd February 2018. 
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). 
 
LEGISLATION BACKGROUND/TPO PROCEDURE  
The power to make a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) is contained in The Town and Country 
(Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012. This specifies that a Local Planning Authority 
may serve a TPO on tree or trees, which are considered to be of amenity value and are under 
threat. A Tree Preservation Order (TPO) is an order made by a Local Planning Authority that 
makes it an offence to fell, prune, uproot, wilfully damage or destroy a tree without the 
Authority's permission. This allows for the tree or trees to be retained and managed for the 
benefit of everyone. The Authority has a statutory obligation to protect trees worthy of 
preservation by means of TPOs.  
 
There are national criteria set out in the National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) against 
which a tree should be assessed in order to determine whether it is worthy of preservation. 
When trees are considered potentially worthy of protection, they will be assessed against the 
prescribed criteria and if the tree meets these criteria then a provisional TPO will be served.  
 
When deciding whether an Order is appropriate, the guidance outlines that protection should 
be given to trees and woodlands if their removal would have a significant negative impact on 
the local environment and its enjoyment by the public. There is no definition of what this 
'amenity value' is so authorities need to exercise judgment when deciding whether to seek to 
protect the tree/s. This needs a judgement of what is on the ground and the expedience for 
taking action. In coming to this judgment, it could include the visibility, the extent to which the 
trees are visible from the public place or street. However, just because it can be seen is not 
enough, the importance of the trees also needs to be considered. This can include size and 
form, rarity or historic value and the contribution to the surrounding character, landscape or 
Conservation Area. The importance to nature conservation or a response to climate change 
can also be factors but would not warrant an order on their own.  
 
A tree preservation order does not stop development. The protected trees become a constraint 
or asset of the site and whilst works can be done to the trees with consent, for example keep 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4.1

http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/2116950.pdf
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/LocalPlan


 

 
Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.1 
17 October 2023 

them safe, any new proposal for development would have to consider the impacts on the trees 
and the wider area. 
 
Stroud District Council uses a national recognised system to assess the expediency of making 
a TPO called Tree Evaluation Method for Tree Preservation Orders (TEMPO).  TEMPO is used 
by many local authorities for this purpose.  After visiting and assessing the tree using the 
TEMPO system, the Consultant Tree Officer and Trainee Tree Officer decided that a 
provisional tree preservation order should be served. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
Support comments received: 
Stonehouse Town Council has supported the TPO with the response that the town council 
wholly supports the recommended Tree Preservation Order. 
 
Objection comments received: 
The owner of 162 Arrowsmith Drive has objected to the TPO on the grounds - 
o Tree is a hazard and danger to their property 
o Risk of bigger branches breaking and falling on to house 
o Danger to children as branches falling into their garden 
o Leaves block up the gutters 
o Makes gardens slippery and dangerous 
o Risk for damp in properties following blocked gutters 
o Expensive to have gutters cleared 
 
A full copy of the objection letter are appended to this report. 
 
RESPONSE TO OBJECTIONS  
The objector has not to this date provided any further information / survey reports or diagnostic 
information to support the opinion that the tree is unsafe. If there are concerns over the trees 
structural integrity and should the TPO be confirmed the Council would welcome an application 
for works to trees supported by appropriate levels of arboricultural evidence, this could include 
a visual tree assessment, aerial inspection (with photographs of all bio mechanical defects) 
and results of any internal decay detection investigations to justify any proposed works. 
 
Photographs have been received with the objection showing leaves, acorns and sticks, this is 
mostly a seasonal problem and would not warrant the removal of a mature tree for these 
reasons. 
 
The Council would not refuse an application to prune or fell a tree protected by a TPO where 
appropriate evidence has been provided which demonstrates that the tree is in a condition that 
would warrant removal. At this point as no such information has been provided to the Council 
to demonstrate that the tree poses an unacceptable risk to residents and an inspection from 
the ground level only did not highlight and obvious defects which would result in allowing the 
TPO to lapse. The recommendation is to confirm the order which would provide the residents 
more time to provide evidence to substantiate their claims and submit a tree work application. 
 
 
 

Page 22

Agenda Item 4.1



 

 
Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.1 
17 October 2023 

OPTIONS AVAILABLE TO THE COMMITTEE: 
Members are reminded that they must properly consider the above issues before coming to a 
fully reasoned conclusion as to whether to:  
 
1) Confirm the Tree Preservation Order without modification; or  
 
2) To confirm the Tree Preservation Order as with modifications; or  
 
3) To refuse the Tree Preservation Order.  
 
In doing so, Members must clearly give reasons as to why they have reached their decision.  
 
It should be noted that the Order cannot be modified to include further trees outside the 
boundary of the order as drawn. If consideration is required to be given to protecting further 
trees then a new order to cover those trees should be placed. The modification of the order 
can only exclude trees or draw the boundary smaller but it cannot increase it because the 
publicity and notification has not included any greater number of trees. 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
It is therefore recommended that the provisional Order (TPO/0590) should be confirmed as 
served and long term protection provided for the tree.  
 
There is no right of appeal to the confirmation of an order so the Authority and Members have 
to demonstrate that they have made their decision in an even-handed and open manner. 
Therefore, Members are asked to consider all the information before them including the 
comments and objections received, prior to making a decision to confirm the order. 
 
If the order isn't confirmed, the landowner can exercise their right to remove the trees. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4.1



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 25

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



Page 26

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



Page 27

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



Page 28

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



Page 29

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



Page 30

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



Page 31

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



TREE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATION ORDERS (TEMPO): 

Date:  Surveyor:  

Decision: 

Score & Notes 
 
      

Score & Notes
  

Score & Notes
  

Score & Notes
  

Score & Notes
  

Part 3: Decision guide 
 
Any 0  Do not apply TPO 
1-6  TPO indefensible 
7-10  Does not merit TPO 
11-14  TPO defensible 
15+  Definitely merits TPO 

Add Scores for Total: 

 

Part 2: Expediency assessment  
Trees must have accrued 10 or more points to qualify 
 
5) Immediate threat to tree inc. s.211 Notice 
3) Foreseeable threat to tree 
2) Perceived threat to tree 

Part 1: Amenity assessment 
a) Condition & suitability for TPO: 
Refer to Guidance Note for definitions 
 
5) Good Highly suitable 
3) Fair  Suitable   
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable   
0) Dead/dying/dangerous Unsuitable   
 
b) Remaining longevity (in years) & suitability for TPO: Refer to
 ‘Species Guide’ section in Guidance Note 
 
5) 100+  Highly suitable 
4) 40-100 Very suitable 
2) 20-40  Suitable 
1) 10-20  Just suitable 
0) <10  Unsuitable 
   
c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO: 
Consider realistic potential for future visibility with changed land 
use.
 
5) Very large trees with some visibility, or 
    prominent large trees
3) Medium trees, or large trees with limited view only    
2) Young, small trees, or medium/large trees visible only 
    with difficulty                 
 1) Trees not visible to the public, regardless of size      

d) Other factors
Trees must have accrued 7 or more points (with no zero score) to qualify 
 
5) Principal components of formal arboricultural features, or veteran trees 4) 
Tree groups or principal members of tree groups important for their cohesion 
3) Trees with identifiable historic, commemorative or habitat importance 
2) Trees of particularly good form, especially if rare or unusual 
1) Trees with none of the above additional redeeming features
-1) Trees with poor form or which are generally unsuitable for their location  

 
SURVEY DATA SHEET & DECISION GUIDE 

Tree details 
TPO Ref (if applicable): Tree/Group No:  Species:
Owner (if known): Location: 

Page 32

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



Page 33

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



Page 34

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



Page 35

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



Page 36

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



Page 37

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



Page 38

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



P
age 39

A
genda Item

 4.1

A
ppendix A



 

Page 40

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



From: 
Sent: 14 Sep 2023 01:49:02
To: dms main@stroud.gov.uk
Cc: 
Subject: FW: Planning Application comments
Attachments: 

  
  
From: _WEB_Planning <Planning@stroud.gov.uk> 
Sent: Wednesday, September 13, 2023 8:36 AM
To: _WEB_Planning Idoxing <planning.idoxing@stroud.gov.uk>
Subject: FW: Planning Application comments 
  
Consultee comment 
  

 

 
Planning Technician 
Stroud District Council 

Ebley Mill, Ebley Wharf
Stroud, Gloucestershire. GL5 4UB

T   01453 766321
W  www.stroud.gov.uk 
  
Working together to make Stroud district a better place to live, work and visit 
  
  
  

  
  
From:
Sent: Tuesday, September 12, 2023 5:47 PM
To:  _WEB_Planning <Planning@stroud.gov.uk>

Subject: RE: Planning Application comments 
  

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or 
clicking links, especially from unknown senders. 

Hi Sarah 
  
Thank you very much for responding so quickly to my problem. 
  
Please find the following comments I could not upload onto the planning portal by virtue of the fact that they did not show up 
  

 
 

TPO/0590 Land adjacent to 162 Arrowsmith Drive, Stonehouse (see supporting papers) 
Oak tree. Respond by 12th September. 
Comment: The town council wholly supports the recommended Tree Preservation Order 

  

Page 41

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
Please can you confirm that these comments have been loaded onto the portal by the respective deadlines. 
  
Thanks 
  

Clerk to Stonehouse Town Council 

  

From: 
Sent: Tuesday, September 12, 2023 4:44 PM
To:
Subject: Planning Application comments 
  
Good afternoon, 
  
Following on from our telephone call, the email address you will need to send your comments to is 
planning@stroud.gov.uk 
  
Kind regards, 
  

 

 
  
Planning Business Support 
Assistant 
Stroud District Council 

Ebley Mill, Ebley Wharf
Stroud, Gloucestershire. GL5 
4UB 

T   01453 766321
W  www.stroud.gov.uk 
  
Working together to make Stroud 
district a better place to live, work 
and visit 
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

Page 42

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



From: Ind, Francesca <francesca.ind@stroud.gov.uk>
Sent: 25 Sep 2023 08:59:43
To: dms main@stroud.gov.uk
Cc: 
Subject: FW: Objection to New Tree Preservation Order: TPO/0590
Attachments: 

  
  
From:
Sent: Friday, September 22, 2023 11:32 AM
To: Ind, Francesca <francesca.ind@stroud.gov.uk>
Subject: Re: Objection to New Tree Preservation Order: TPO/0590 
  
  

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or 
clicking links, especially from unknown senders. 

Hi Francesca 
  
Any updates on the tree? 
We have had a lot of debris over the last few days and I’m concerned that Autumn is approaching fast which will cause us more 
issues. 
  
Attached another photo of the latest fallen branches and acorns. 

Page 43

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



 
Regards 

Sent from my iPhone 

On 11 Sep 2023, at 12:47, Ind, Francesca <francesca.ind@stroud.gov.uk> wrote: 

 
Good afternoon, 
  
Thank you for your emails and I apologise for the delay in responding. 
  
I have added your emails and photographs to the file and will update you on this order as soon as I have 
any updates. 
  
Kind Regards 
  

 

Francesca Ind 
  
Trainee Arboriculture Officer 
  
Stroud District Council

  
  
  
  
  

Page 44

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



Ebley Mill, Ebley Wharf
Stroud, Gloucestershire. GL5 4UB

T   01453 754242
W  www.stroud.gov.uk 
  
Working together to make Stroud district a better 
place to live, work and visit 
  
  

  
  
From: 
Sent: Monday, September 11, 2023 12:20 PM
To: Ind, Francesca <francesca.ind@stroud.gov.uk>
Cc: 
Subject: Re: Objection to New Tree Preservation Order: TPO/0590 
  
  

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when opening 
attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders. 

Hi Francesca 
  
I have not heard anything back since my email last week. 
  
Just wanted to update you further on the issues coming from the tree. The dry weather has caused a lot of acorns to 
fall and also more branches have fallen over the weekend. We are really worried about someone getting hurt. 
  
Attached is a video and photo after the weekend. 
  
Regards 

  

Sent from my iPhone 

On 4 Sep 2023, at 13:52,  wrote: 

Dear Francesca

We have received a letter informing us that there is a temporary TPO on the tree outside our back 
garden.
We would like to object against this TPO/0590 as the tree is hazard and a danger to our property.

We were in the process of having the tree removed before this TPO was put in place, as it is old and 
crumbling, there is also high risk of the bigger branches breaking and falling on to our house roof 
causing some serious damage.
It is also a danger to our children as there are lots of branches falling into our garden already as can be 
seen in the attached photos and we have restricted them from using that part of the garden.
We have been trying to figure out who owns the tree since April 2023 without any success and had 
taken the final decision to pay for the removal before it caused any damage to the property. We have 
had some high winds and thunderstorms which caused a lot of branches to break and fall into the 
garden causing a near miss to the patio glass table. we have had to move our furniture to another area 
of the garden.

I am not sure who can actually enjoy the tree as the path behind our houses has never been cleaned or 
cleared, we cannot even open our back gate as the nettles have overgrown so much. Recently one of Page 45

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



the kind neighbours took his lawnmower down it so he could clear some of the path for the dog 
walkers.

We had the arrangements in place to have the tree removed on our return from holiday and are very 
frustrated to receive this TPO letter.

We have spoken to our neighbours and we all think it is a hazard to us all as the leaves block up all our 
gutters and make the gardens very slippery and dangerous. The blocked gutters are causing a risk for 
damp in the properties. it is also very expensive to have the gutters cleared all the time.

The best and safest case for us all would be to have the tree removed.

I would recommend for you to arrange a viewing of the tree and the issues it is causing us.

Below is information of our neighbours who are equally annoyed and frustrated by the tree and the 
lack of maintenance of it by the council.

162 Arrowsmith Drive

160 Arrowsmith Drive

65 Arrowsmith Drive

63 Arrowsmith Drive

61 Arrowsmith Drive

We really appreciate if the TPO can be removed and you can support us in cutting down the tree.

Kind Regards

162 Arrowsmith Drive
Stonehouse
GL10 2QR

Page 46

Agenda Item 4.1

Appendix A



 

Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.2 
17 October 2023 

Item No: 02 
Application No. S.23/1901/NEWTPO 
Site Address Land At, Gunhouse Lane, Bowbridge, Stroud 
Town/Parish Brimscombe And Thrupp Parish Council 
Grid Reference 386173,203952 
Application Type New Tree Preservation Order  
Proposal TPO/0587 - Land at Gunhouse Lane, Stroud, Gloucestershire 2023 
Recommendation Confirm the Tree Preservation Order without modification 
Call in Request Requested by Head of Development Management 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47

Agenda Item 4.2



 

Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.2 
17 October 2023 

Applicant’s 
Details 

Stroud District Council 
Ebley Mill, Ebley Wharf, Stroud, Gloucestershire, GL5 4UB 

Agent’s Details None 
Case Officer Justin Hobbs  
 CONSULTEES 
Comments 
Received 

Parish Council 
58 Thrupp Lane 
Mulberry House 
The Old Coach House 

Constraints Brimscombe and Thrupp Parish Council     
 OFFICER’S REPORT 

 
CONFIRMATION OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 
 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
To consider objection and support comments received to the making of Stroud District Tree 
Preservation Order No 0587 in respect of trees on Land at Gunhouse Lane, Stroud and to 
determine whether or not to confirm the Order.  
 
An effective tree preservation order makes it an offence to do any works to the protected trees 
without first gaining consent from the Local Planning Authority unless such works are covered 
by an exemption within the Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) 
Regulations 2012.  
 
INTRODUCTION  
In September 2022 a member of the public requested that the council consider the expediency 
of making a TPO on a trees on land at Gunhouse Lane, Stroud. The site owner was recently 
deceased and there was concern about the future of the trees on the land. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF TREE/SITE 
Land at Gunhouse Lane is a plot located at the southern end of Gunhouse Lane immediately 
adjacent to Thrupp Lane, in Thrupp Parish.  A thin, triangular piece of land with a well-used 
public footpath running through it connecting Thrupp Lane with Gunhouse Lane.  The TPO 
protects one mature Lawsons Cypress tree towards the northern end of the plot, a group of 15 
yew trees in the main body of the plot and two groups of mature lime trees adjacent to Thrupp 
Lane.  
 
NATIONAL AND LOCAL PLANNING POLICIES 
National Planning Policy Framework September 2023 
Available to view at: 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/2116950.pdf  
 
Stroud District Local Plan. 
Policies together with the preamble text and associated supplementary planning documents 
are available to view on the Councils website: https://www.stroud.gov.uk/LocalPlan  
Local Plan policies considered include: 
ES8 - Trees, hedgerows and woodlands. 
 

Page 48

Agenda Item 4.2

http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/2116950.pdf
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/LocalPlan


 

Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.2 
17 October 2023 

National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
TPO/0584 - TPO made 07.02.2023 to protect the trees on site. Due to a naming error on the 
TPO title it was decided to allow this TPO to lapse (not be confirmed) and the current TPO 
(TPO/0587) was made to, in effect, replace this TPO. 
 
LEGISLATION BACKGROUND/TPO PROCEDURE  
A Tree Preservation Order (TPO) is an order made by a Local Planning Authority that makes 
it an offence to fell, prune, uproot, wilfully damage or destroy a tree without the Authority's 
permission.  The Authority has a statutory obligation to protect trees worthy of preservation by 
means of TPOs.  
 
The power to make a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) is contained in The Town and Country 
(Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012. This specifies that local planning authorities 
can make a Tree Preservation Order if it appears to them to be 'expedient in the interests of 
amenity to make provision for the preservation of trees or woodlands in their area'. 
 
Authorities can either initiate this process themselves or in response to a request made by any 
other party. When deciding whether a TPO is appropriate, authorities are advised to take into 
consideration what 'amenity' means in practice, what to take into account when assessing 
amenity value, what 'expedient' means in practice, what trees can be protected and how they 
can be identified. 
 
When deciding whether a TPO is appropriate, the guidance outlines that protection should be 
given to trees and woodlands if their removal would have a significant negative impact on the 
local environment and its enjoyment by the public. Before authorities make or confirm an TPO 
they should be able to show that protection would bring a reasonable degree of public benefit 
in the present or future. 
 
When considering whether trees should be protected by a TPO, authorities are advised to 
develop ways of assessing the amenity value of trees in a structured and consistent way, taking 
into account the following criteria: 
 
Visibility 
The extent to which the trees or woodlands can be seen by the public will inform the authority's 
assessment of whether the impact on the local environment is significant. The trees, or at least 
part of them, should normally be visible from a public place, such as a road or footpath, or 
accessible by the public. 
 
Individual, collective and wider impact 
Public visibility alone will not be sufficient to warrant a TPO The authority is advised to also 
assess the particular importance of an individual tree, of groups of trees or of woodlands by 
reference to its or their characteristics including: 
o size and form 
o future potential as an amenity 
o rarity, cultural or historic value 
o contribution to, and relationship with, the landscape; and 

Page 49

Agenda Item 4.2



 

Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.2 
17 October 2023 

o contribution to the character or appearance of a conservation area. 
 
Other factors 
Where relevant to an assessment of the amenity value of trees or woodlands, authorities may 
consider taking into account other factors, such as importance to nature conservation or 
response to climate change. These factors alone would not warrant making an Order. 
 
Stroud District Council uses a national recognised system to assess the expediency of making 
a TPO called Tree Evaluation Method for Tree Preservation Orders (TEMPO).  TEMPO is used 
by many local authorities for this purpose. 
 
Once a TPO is made, the council has a maximum of 6 months to decide whether to confirm 
the TPO as made, confirm the TPO as made but with modifications, or to not confirm the TPO.  
Allowing the 6 month period to pass without confirmation renders the TPO as lapsed and the 
trees are no longer protected. 
 
The purpose of the maximum period of 6 months between making the TPO and confirming, 
modifying, or not confirming the TPO, is to allow a for representations to be made to the council 
about the TPO before deciding whether to confirm, modify, or to not confirm the TPO. 
 
BACKGROUND TO THE TPO 
In September 2022 a member of the public made officers at Stroud District Council aware that 
the owner of a plot of land known as land at Gunhouse Lane, Bowbridge, Stroud had passed 
away.  Concern was raised about potential future land use changes and requests made to the 
council consider making a TPO to protect trees on site. 
 
The consultant tree officer visited site on 20.01.2023 and undertook an assessment for 
expediency to make a TPO using the TEMPO system.  The results of the assessment indicated 
it was expedient to make a TPO to protect trees on site (Appendix 2).    
 
TPO 0584 was duly made on 07.02.2023. The council served notice on the owner and those 
affected by the TPO in accordance with Regulation 5 of the Town and Country Planning (Tree 
Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012 (The Regulations hereafter). A site notice was also 
posted on site. 
 
An objection and supporting comments to the making of this TPO were received within the 
statutory 28 day period following the making of the TPO.  Officers re-examined the TPO 
considered the title of the TPO - "A small copse" was not accurate enough and would not satisfy 
the Regulations. 
 
It was decided that the most expedient course of action was to allow TPO 0584 to lapse (i.e to 
not be confirmed) and to make a new TPO to, in effect, replace TPO 0584. 
 
TPO 0587 Land at Gunhouse Lane, Stroud, Gloucestershire (2023) was duly made on 
20.07.2023. The council served notice on the owner and those affected by the TPO in 
accordance with Regulation 5 of the Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) 
Regulations 2012. A site notice was also posted on site. 
 

Page 50

Agenda Item 4.2



 

Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.2 
17 October 2023 

The period for any objections and representations to be made to the Council in respect of the 
TPO ended on 17.08.2023. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
Four objection correspondences to this TPO and the original TPO (TPO 584) have been 
received. 
 
One supporting correspondence from the Parish Council to the making of the original TPO 
(TPO 584). 
 
Summary of objection comments received: 
The objections primarily focus on concern about the health of the trees, a lack of management 
or maintenance, overhanging branches, the overbearing nature of the trees, and the title of the 
TPO. 
 
An objection from The Executors of the Estate of the deceased owner of the land have objected 
to the TPO on grounds that the TPO affects the Beneficiary of land, and the value of the land, 
and this affecting the Probate process. 
 
A full copy of the support and objection letters are appended to this report at Appendix 3. 
 
RESPONSE TO OBJECTIONS 
When assessing the trees for expediency to make this TPO, no significant or obvious defects 
were apparent with the trees now subject to the TPO.  However, it is not appropriate for the 
council to undertake detailed and extensive tree condition surveys when making a TPO.  The 
making of a TPO does not confer responsibility for the trees onto the council, this remains with 
the landowner. The making of a TPO does not prevent applications for works to be undertaken 
on the trees protected by the TPO. The council would not refuse justified, reasonable, and 
evidence based applications for remedial works to remove unacceptable risks and/or for 
appropriate arboricultural management. 
 
Officers are satisfied that the title of the TPO meets the requirements of the Regulations as it 
accurately reflects the geographical location of the trees, and the name is used locally. 
 
In the absence of any evidence submitted, the affects to the Beneficiary of the Estate are based 
on supposition.  It should be noted again that the making and confirming of a TPO does not 
prevent applications being made for works or development. 
 
ASSESSMENT/APPRAISAL 
The trees subject to the TPO all make a positive contribution to the surrounding area.  Being 
mature, and in an elevated position they can all be seen from a wide area.  
 
The lime trees form an impressive avenue like feature adjacent to Thrupp Lane. It may be 
appropriate to reduce the lime trees in the future, but the protection and retention of this local 
arboricultural feature is clearly desirable.  They are protected as groups on the TPO schedule 
as G1 & G2. 
 

Page 51

Agenda Item 4.2



 

Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.2 
17 October 2023 

The group of yews through which the public footpath runs provides an attractive semi-rural 
characteristic to the plot and will provide welcome shade during hot conditions.  The trees are 
protected as a group as individually they may not be the best specimens, but when taken as a 
whole, as a group they provide considerable amenity. The 15 yew trees that make up the group 
are listed as G3 on the TPO schedule. 
 
The Lawsons Cypress tree stands alone and is a prominent landmark tree, visible from 
distance. The tree is therefore identified and an individual tree on the TPO schedule (T1). 
 
The site and the trees are not in a conservation area, without the protection of a TPO, the trees 
could be removed at any time.   
 
The TEMPO assessment undertaken resulted in scores and recommendations of "TPO 
defensible" or "Merits TPO". 
 
OPTIONS AVAILABLE TO THE COMMITTEE:  
Members are reminded that they must properly consider the above issues before coming to a 
fully reasoned conclusion as to whether to:  
 
1) Confirm the Tree Preservation Order without modification; or  
 
2) To confirm the Tree Preservation Order as with modifications; or  
 
3) To not confirm the Tree Preservation Order.  
 
In doing so, Members must clearly give reasons as to why they have reached their decision.  
 
It should be noted that the Order cannot be modified to include further trees outside the 
boundary of the order as drawn. If consideration is required to be given to protecting further 
trees then a new order to cover those trees should be placed. The modification of the order 
can only exclude trees or draw the boundary smaller but it cannot increase it because the 
publicity and notification has not included any greater number of trees. 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
The trees that comprise this TPO contribute positively to amenity in the vicinity by virtue of their 
prominence and public visibility. Assessment has shown it is expedient to confirm this TPO. 
 
It is therefore recommended that TPO 0587 Land at Gunhouse Lane, Stroud, Gloucestershire 
(2023) should be confirmed as served and long term protection provided for the trees.  
 
There is no right of appeal the confirmation of an order so the Authority and Members have to 
demonstrate that they have made their decision in an even-handed and open manner. 
Therefore, Members are asked to consider all the information before them including the 
comments and objections received, prior to making a decision to confirm the order. 
 
If the order isn't confirmed, the landowner can exercise their right to remove the trees. 

Page 52

Agenda Item 4.2



Page 53

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 54

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 55

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 56

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 57

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 58

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 59

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



TREE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATION ORDERS (TEMPO): 

Date:  Surveyor:  

Decision: 

Score & Notes 
 
      

Score & Notes
  

Score & Notes
  

Score & Notes
  

Score & Notes
  

Part 3: Decision guide 
 
Any 0  Do not apply TPO 
1-6  TPO indefensible 
7-10  Does not merit TPO 
11-14  TPO defensible 
15+  Definitely merits TPO 

Add Scores for Total: 

 

Part 2: Expediency assessment  
Trees must have accrued 10 or more points to qualify 
 
5) Immediate threat to tree inc. s.211 Notice 
3) Foreseeable threat to tree 
2) Perceived threat to tree 

Part 1: Amenity assessment 
a) Condition & suitability for TPO: 
Refer to Guidance Note for definitions 
 
5) Good Highly suitable 
3) Fair  Suitable   
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable   
0) Dead/dying/dangerous Unsuitable   
 
b) Remaining longevity (in years) & suitability for TPO: Refer to
 ‘Species Guide’ section in Guidance Note 
 
5) 100+  Highly suitable 
4) 40-100 Very suitable 
2) 20-40  Suitable 
1) 10-20  Just suitable 
0) <10  Unsuitable 
   
c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO: 
Consider realistic potential for future visibility with changed land 
use.
 
5) Very large trees with some visibility, or 
    prominent large trees
3) Medium trees, or large trees with limited view only    
2) Young, small trees, or medium/large trees visible only 
    with difficulty                 
 1) Trees not visible to the public, regardless of size      

d) Other factors
Trees must have accrued 7 or more points (with no zero score) to qualify 
 
5) Principal components of formal arboricultural features, or veteran trees 4) 
Tree groups or principal members of tree groups important for their cohesion 
3) Trees with identifiable historic, commemorative or habitat importance 
2) Trees of particularly good form, especially if rare or unusual 
1) Trees with none of the above additional redeeming features
-1) Trees with poor form or which are generally unsuitable for their location  

 
SURVEY DATA SHEET & DECISION GUIDE 

Tree details 
TPO Ref (if applicable): Tree/Group No:  Species:
Owner (if known): Location: 

Highly suitable

Suitable
Barely suitable

Probably unsuitable

20/01/2023 Justin Hobbs

S.22/1938/NEWTPO G2 3no Lime
Land at Gunhouse Lane, Bowbridge

3 - Fully mature, intervention/remedial 
works maybe required in future, appear 
in good health although dense basal 
epicormic growth prevented detailed 
basal inspection.

4 - At least 40 years is an appropriate 
estimate, even if remedial works are 
required.

5 - Large and prominent.

1.

2 - local information.

15 TPO

Page 60

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



TREE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATION ORDERS (TEMPO): 

Date:  Surveyor:  

Decision: 

Score & Notes 
 
      

Score & Notes
  

Score & Notes
  

Score & Notes
  

Score & Notes
  

Part 3: Decision guide 
 
Any 0  Do not apply TPO 
1-6  TPO indefensible 
7-10  Does not merit TPO 
11-14  TPO defensible 
15+  Definitely merits TPO 

Add Scores for Total: 

 

Part 2: Expediency assessment  
Trees must have accrued 10 or more points to qualify 
 
5) Immediate threat to tree inc. s.211 Notice 
3) Foreseeable threat to tree 
2) Perceived threat to tree 

Part 1: Amenity assessment 
a) Condition & suitability for TPO: 
Refer to Guidance Note for definitions 
 
5) Good Highly suitable 
3) Fair  Suitable   
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable   
0) Dead/dying/dangerous Unsuitable   
 
b) Remaining longevity (in years) & suitability for TPO: Refer to
 ‘Species Guide’ section in Guidance Note 
 
5) 100+  Highly suitable 
4) 40-100 Very suitable 
2) 20-40  Suitable 
1) 10-20  Just suitable 
0) <10  Unsuitable 
   
c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO: 
Consider realistic potential for future visibility with changed land 
use.
 
5) Very large trees with some visibility, or 
    prominent large trees
3) Medium trees, or large trees with limited view only    
2) Young, small trees, or medium/large trees visible only 
    with difficulty                 
 1) Trees not visible to the public, regardless of size      

d) Other factors
Trees must have accrued 7 or more points (with no zero score) to qualify 
 
5) Principal components of formal arboricultural features, or veteran trees 4) 
Tree groups or principal members of tree groups important for their cohesion 
3) Trees with identifiable historic, commemorative or habitat importance 
2) Trees of particularly good form, especially if rare or unusual 
1) Trees with none of the above additional redeeming features
-1) Trees with poor form or which are generally unsuitable for their location  

 
SURVEY DATA SHEET & DECISION GUIDE 

Tree details 
TPO Ref (if applicable): Tree/Group No:  Species:
Owner (if known): Location: 

Highly suitable

Suitable
Barely suitable

Probably unsuitable

20/01/2023 Justin Hobbs

S.22/1938/NEWTPO T1 Lawsons cypress, Chamaecyparis lawsoniana

Land at Gunhouse Lane, Bowbridge

3 - Ivy clad main stem and limbs

2 - Conservative estimate.

5 Prominent, tall tree 
adjacent to footpath and in
an elevated position.

1.

2 - local information.

13 TPO

Page 61

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



TREE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATION ORDERS (TEMPO): 

Date:  Surveyor:  

Decision: 

Score & Notes 
 
      

Score & Notes
  

Score & Notes
  

Score & Notes
  

Score & Notes
  

Part 3: Decision guide 
 
Any 0  Do not apply TPO 
1-6  TPO indefensible 
7-10  Does not merit TPO 
11-14  TPO defensible 
15+  Definitely merits TPO 

Add Scores for Total: 

 

Part 2: Expediency assessment  
Trees must have accrued 10 or more points to qualify 
 
5) Immediate threat to tree inc. s.211 Notice 
3) Foreseeable threat to tree 
2) Perceived threat to tree 

Part 1: Amenity assessment 
a) Condition & suitability for TPO: 
Refer to Guidance Note for definitions 
 
5) Good Highly suitable 
3) Fair  Suitable   
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable   
0) Dead/dying/dangerous Unsuitable   
 
b) Remaining longevity (in years) & suitability for TPO: Refer to
 ‘Species Guide’ section in Guidance Note 
 
5) 100+  Highly suitable 
4) 40-100 Very suitable 
2) 20-40  Suitable 
1) 10-20  Just suitable 
0) <10  Unsuitable 
   
c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO: 
Consider realistic potential for future visibility with changed land 
use.
 
5) Very large trees with some visibility, or 
    prominent large trees
3) Medium trees, or large trees with limited view only    
2) Young, small trees, or medium/large trees visible only 
    with difficulty                 
 1) Trees not visible to the public, regardless of size      

d) Other factors
Trees must have accrued 7 or more points (with no zero score) to qualify 
 
5) Principal components of formal arboricultural features, or veteran trees 4) 
Tree groups or principal members of tree groups important for their cohesion 
3) Trees with identifiable historic, commemorative or habitat importance 
2) Trees of particularly good form, especially if rare or unusual 
1) Trees with none of the above additional redeeming features
-1) Trees with poor form or which are generally unsuitable for their location  

 
SURVEY DATA SHEET & DECISION GUIDE 

Tree details 
TPO Ref (if applicable): Tree/Group No:  Species:
Owner (if known): Location: 

Highly suitable

Suitable
Barely suitable

Probably unsuitable

20/01/2023 Justin Hobbs

S.22/1938/NEWTPO G2 3no Lime
Land at Gunhouse Lane, Bowbridge

3 - Fully mature, intervention/remedial 
works maybe required in future, appear 
in good health although dense basal 
epicormic growth prevented detailed 
basal inspection.

4 - At least 40 years is an appropriate 
estimate, even if remedial works are 
required.

5 - Large and prominent.

1.

2 - local information.

15 TPO

Page 62

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



TREE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATION ORDERS (TEMPO): 

Date:  Surveyor:  

Decision: 

Score & Notes 
 
      

Score & Notes
  

Score & Notes
  

Score & Notes
  

Score & Notes
  

Part 3: Decision guide 
 
Any 0  Do not apply TPO 
1-6  TPO indefensible 
7-10  Does not merit TPO 
11-14  TPO defensible 
15+  Definitely merits TPO 

Add Scores for Total: 

 

Part 2: Expediency assessment  
Trees must have accrued 10 or more points to qualify 
 
5) Immediate threat to tree inc. s.211 Notice 
3) Foreseeable threat to tree 
2) Perceived threat to tree 

Part 1: Amenity assessment 
a) Condition & suitability for TPO: 
Refer to Guidance Note for definitions 
 
5) Good Highly suitable 
3) Fair  Suitable   
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable   
0) Dead/dying/dangerous Unsuitable   
 
b) Remaining longevity (in years) & suitability for TPO: Refer to
 ‘Species Guide’ section in Guidance Note 
 
5) 100+  Highly suitable 
4) 40-100 Very suitable 
2) 20-40  Suitable 
1) 10-20  Just suitable 
0) <10  Unsuitable 
   
c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO: 
Consider realistic potential for future visibility with changed land 
use.
 
5) Very large trees with some visibility, or 
    prominent large trees
3) Medium trees, or large trees with limited view only    
2) Young, small trees, or medium/large trees visible only 
    with difficulty                 
 1) Trees not visible to the public, regardless of size      

d) Other factors
Trees must have accrued 7 or more points (with no zero score) to qualify 
 
5) Principal components of formal arboricultural features, or veteran trees 4) 
Tree groups or principal members of tree groups important for their cohesion 
3) Trees with identifiable historic, commemorative or habitat importance 
2) Trees of particularly good form, especially if rare or unusual 
1) Trees with none of the above additional redeeming features
-1) Trees with poor form or which are generally unsuitable for their location  

 
SURVEY DATA SHEET & DECISION GUIDE 

Tree details 
TPO Ref (if applicable): Tree/Group No:  Species:
Owner (if known): Location: 

Highly suitable

Suitable
Barely suitable

Probably unsuitable

20/01/2023 Justin Hobbs

S.22/1938/NEWTPO G3 15no Yew
Land at Gunhouse Lane, Bowbridge

3 - Some poorer quality individuals 
within group.

5 - Yew trees are very long lived.

4 As a group moderate 
size and visibility + 
footpath running through 
the group

1.

2 - local information.

15 TPO

Page 63

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



From: Ind, Francesca <francesca.ind@stroud.gov.uk>
Sent: 02 Oct 2023 09:42:22
To: dms_main@stroud.gov.uk
Cc: 
Subject: FW: New Tree Preservation Order
Attachments: 

  
  
  
From: clerk@brimscombeandthrupp-pc.gov.uk <clerk@brimscombeandthrupp-pc.gov.uk> 
Sent: Thursday, March 16, 2023 10:17 PM
To: Porter, Simon <simon.porter@stroud.gov.uk>; Hobbs, Justin <justin.hobbs@stroud.gov.uk>
Cc: _CLLR_Aldam, Rebecca <Cllr.Rebecca.Aldam@stroud.gov.uk>
Subject: RE: New Tree Preservation Order 
  

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or 
clicking links, especially from unknown senders. 

Dear Justin, 
  
Brimscombe and Thrupp Parish Council considered the new Tree Preservation Order 
(S.22/1938/NEWTPO) at the Parish Council meeting on Tuesday 14th March 2023, and resolved to fully 
support the application (the minute reference for this is 14/03/2023, minute reference 8.5). 
  
Please could you let me know if you require any other information. 
  
With best wishes, 
Hannah 
Clerk and Responsible Financial Officer 
Brimscombe and Thrupp Parish Council 
Email: clerk@brimscombeandthrupp-pc.gov.uk 
Parish Council Telephone Number: 07421313599 
  
I work flexibly. If I’m sending this email outside of regular hours it is because it suits my work pattern just now, and, 
importantly, I don’t expect you to read, respond, or action it outside of your regular hours. 
The information included in this e-mail is of a confidential nature and is intended only for the addressee. If you are not the intended 
addressee, any disclosure, copying or distribution by you is prohibited and may be unlawful. Disclosure to any party other than the 
addressee, whether inadvertent or otherwise is not intended to waive privilege or confidentiality. 

  

Page 64

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 65

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 66

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 67

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 68

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 69

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 70

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 71

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 72

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 73

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 74

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 75

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 76

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 77

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 78

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 79

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 80

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 81

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



Page 82

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



The Old Coach House,

Gunhouse Lane,

Stroud,

Glos.

GL5 2DB

28th July 2023

Att. Tree Officer

Planning Dept.,

Stroud District Council,

Ebley Mill,

Ebley Wharf,

Stroud,

GL5 4UB

Dear Tree Officer,

TPO – TPO 0587 – GUNHOUSE LANE

As residents, home and business owners of property bordering on the area labelled as ‘small
copse’ we wish to object to the proposed TPO for land off Gunhouse Lane.

The trees in this area have been allowed over many years to grow unmaintained.  We have
lived here for 26 years, during which time no maintenance has been done on these trees.
They have become over large encroaching on neighbouring properties, damaging  fencing and
blocking light.

Among the others, a main concern is the very large tree, described as Lawsons Cypress
(Chamaecyparis Lawsonia).  A tree not native to our country.   Reference on map – T1 – tree
in dotted black line.  Please find included photos of this tree.

We have raised concerns regarding this tree with the landowner many times, only to be
ignored.

The tree is unmaintained,  overgrown and full of ivy.  It has many boughs that are dangerously
hanging off and the tree itself is progressively leaning towards neighbouring properties.  The
inside of the tree is already looking dead.  This is obviously a concern as this path is regularly
used by local residents and school children.  We feel this is a legitimate risk to property and

Page 83

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



potentially life.  Due to this we feel this tree should definitely not be included in the TPO, as
this tree is already dangerous.  By including this in a group TPO that includes many trees could
render SDC negligent if this were to fall.  As property owners next to this tree we are always
fearing it falling every time we experience high winds or gales.

The 6 lime trees, reference on map G1 and G2 , with a broken black line.   These trees again
have had no maintenance for at lease 26 years.  They are very overgrown and are pushing the
very old dry stone wall into Thrupp Lane.  There is not a pavement on Thrupp Lane and many
families and children use this route to the local school. Please also find included photographs
of the trees and the wall.

We trust that SDC and Thrupp Parish Council are aware that a recent survey has taken place
on the trees in this area, prior to this TPO application.  We feel it a shame that the original
applicant, who doesn’t live bordering this area, didn’t talk to the locals.

I will also be posting this objection.

We look forward to hearing from you,

Yours sincerely,

Page 84

Agenda Item 4.2

Appendix A



 

Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.3 
17 October 2023 

Item No: 03 
Application No. S.23/1902/NEWTPO 
Site Address Land At, Middle Hill, Eastcombe, Stroud 
Town/Parish Bisley With Lypiatt Parish Council 
Grid Reference 389411,203878 
Application Type New Tree Preservation Order  
Proposal New TPO/0589 - Land At Middle Hill, Eastcombe, Gloucestershire 
Recommendation Confirm the Tree Preservation Order without modification 
Call in Request Requested by Head of Development Management  

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 85

Agenda Item 4.3



 

Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.3 
17 October 2023 

Applicant’s 
Details 

Stroud District Council 
Ebley Mill, Ebley Wharf, Stroud, Gloucestershire, GL5 4UB 

Agent’s Details None 
Case Officer Justin Hobbs  
 CONSULTEES 
Comments 
Received 

Woodside Lodge 

Constraints Bisley With Lypiatt Parish Council     
 OFFICER’S REPORT 

 
CONFIRMATION OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 
 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
To consider objection and support comments made to the making of Stroud District Tree 
Preservation Order No 0589 in respect of a woodland at Land at Middle Hill, Eastcombe and 
to determine whether or not to confirm the Order.  
 
An effective tree preservation order makes it an offence to do any works to the protected trees 
without first gaining consent from the Local Planning Authority unless such works are covered 
by an exemption within the Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) 
Regulations 2012.  
 
INTRODUCTION  
In November 2022 Bisley-with-Lypiatt Parish Council requested that the council consider the 
expediency of making a TPO on a small woodland on land at Middle Hill, Eastcombe.  The site 
was for sale and the Parish Council were concerned about the future of the woodland. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF TREE/SITE 
Land at Middle Hill covers approximately 1.4 acres.  Located on the boundary with Chalford 
Parish, the wedged shaped site is overwhelmingly young deciduous woodland.  The site is 
bounded by the road known as Middle Hill to the west and a road to the east that leads towards 
Bisley. 
 
NATIONAL AND LOCAL PLANNING POLICIES 
National Planning Policy Framework September 2023 
Available to view at: 
 http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/2116950.pdf  
 
Stroud District Local Plan. 
Policies together with the preamble text and associated supplementary planning documents 
are available to view on the Councils website: https://www.stroud.gov.uk/LocalPlan  
Local Plan policies considered include: 
ES8 - Trees, hedgerows and woodlands. 
 
Bisley-with-Lypiatt Design Statement (2010) 
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). 
 

Page 86

Agenda Item 4.3

http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/2116950.pdf
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/LocalPlan


 

Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.3 
17 October 2023 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
TPO/0582 - TPO made 09.01.2023 to protect the woodland. Due to some minor errors on the 
TPO schedule it was decided to allow this TPO to lapse (not be confirmed) and the current 
TPO (TPO/0589) was made to, in effect, replace this TPO. 
 
LEGISLATION BACKGROUND/TPO PROCEDURE 
A Tree Preservation Order (TPO) is an order made by a Local Planning Authority that makes 
it an offence to fell, prune, uproot, wilfully damage or destroy a tree without the Authority's 
permission.  The Authority has a statutory obligation to protect trees worthy of preservation by 
means of TPOs.  
 
The power to make a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) is contained in The Town and Country 
(Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012. This specifies that local planning authorities 
can make a Tree Preservation Order if it appears to them to be 'expedient in the interests of 
amenity to make provision for the preservation of trees or woodlands in their area'. 
 
Authorities can either initiate this process themselves or in response to a request made by any 
other party. When deciding whether a TPO is appropriate, authorities are advised to take into 
consideration what 'amenity' means in practice, what to take into account when assessing 
amenity value, what 'expedient' means in practice, what trees can be protected and how they 
can be identified. 
 
When deciding whether a TPO is appropriate, the guidance outlines that protection should be 
given to trees and woodlands if their removal would have a significant negative impact on the 
local environment and its enjoyment by the public. Before authorities make or confirm an TPO 
they should be able to show that protection would bring a reasonable degree of public benefit 
in the present or future. 
 
When considering whether trees should be protected by a TPO, authorities are advised to 
develop ways of assessing the amenity value of trees in a structured and consistent way, taking 
into account the following criteria: 
 
Visibility 
The extent to which the trees or woodlands can be seen by the public will inform the authority's 
assessment of whether the impact on the local environment is significant. The trees, or at least 
part of them, should normally be visible from a public place, such as a road or footpath, or 
accessible by the public. 
 
Individual, collective and wider impact 
Public visibility alone will not be sufficient to warrant a TPO The authority is advised to also 
assess the particular importance of an individual tree, of groups of trees or of woodlands by 
reference to its or their characteristics including: 
* size and form; 
* future potential as an amenity; 
* rarity, cultural or historic value; 
* contribution to, and relationship with, the landscape; and 
* contribution to the character or appearance of a conservation area. 
 

Page 87

Agenda Item 4.3



 

Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.3 
17 October 2023 

Other factors 
Where relevant to an assessment of the amenity value of trees or woodlands, authorities may 
consider taking into account other factors, such as importance to nature conservation or 
response to climate change. These factors alone would not warrant making an Order. 
 
Stroud District Council uses a national recognised system to assess the expediency of making 
a TPO called Tree Evaluation Method for Tree Preservation Orders (TEMPO).  TEMPO is used 
by many local authorities for this purpose. 
 
Once a TPO is made, the council has a maximum of 6 months to decide whether to confirm 
the TPO as made, confirm the TPO as made but with modifications, or to not confirm the TPO.  
Allowing the 6 month period to pass without confirmation renders the TPO as lapsed and the 
trees are no longer protected. 
 
The purpose of the maximum period of 6 months between making the TPO and confirming, 
modifying, or not confirming the TPO, is to allow a for representations to be made to the council 
about the TPO before deciding whether to confirm, modify, or to not confirm the TPO. 
 
BACKGROUND TO THE TPO 
In November 2022 the Parish Council made officers at Stroud District Council aware that the 
site known as land at Middle Hill, Eastcombe was for sale.  The Parish Council being concerned 
about potential future land use changes requested the council consider making a TPO to 
protect the young woodland covering the vast majority of the site. 
 
The consultant tree officer visited site on 10.11.2022 and undertook an assessment for 
expediency to make a TPO using the TEMPO system.  The results of the assessment indicated 
it was expedient to make a TPO to protect the woodland (Copy in the Appendix).    
 
TPO 0582 was duly made on 09.01.2023. The council served notice on the owner and those 
affected by the TPO in accordance with Regulation 5 of the Town and Country Planning (Tree 
Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012 (The Regulations hereafter). A site notice was also 
posted on site. 
 
An objection to the making of this TPO was received within the statutory 28 day period following 
the making of the TPO.  Officers considered the objection and decided that the woodland 
protected by this TPO had not been identified correctly on the TPO plan. 
 
It was decided that the most expedient course of action was allow TPO 0582 to lapse (i.e to 
not be confirmed) and to make a new TPO to, in effect, replace TPO 0582. 
 
TPO 0589 Land at Middle Hill, Eastcombe, Gloucestershire was duly made on 26.07.2023. 
The council served notice on the owner and those affected by the TPO in accordance with 
Regulation 5 of the Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations 
2012. A site notice was also posted on site. 
 
The TPO protects a small woodland area identified as W1 on the TPO schedule and plan.  The 
TPO protects all trees within the area that are growing now, and any new trees / saplings that 
grow in the future (Copy of Order is attached in the Appendix). 

Page 88

Agenda Item 4.3



 

Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.3 
17 October 2023 

 
The period for any objections and representations to be made to the Council in respect of the 
TPO ended on 23.08.2023. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
One supporting letter. 
Summary of support comments received: 
 
"We wholeheartedly agree that the trees in the woodland are worthy of such an order by virtue 
of their public amenity value and their value as a natural habitat….We agree with the Council's 
opinion that were the woodland to be affected by future development or changes to its' land 
use consideration of the amenity value of the trees and the surrounding area should be 
paramount" 
 
One objection letter from agents representing the site owners. 
Summary of objection comments received: 
 
"Firstly the Order is invalid. Secondly, the Order fails to meet the requirements of section 198(1) 
of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 in that it is not expedient in the interests of amenity 
to make provision for the preservation of any of the tree at the Application site" 
 
The objection contends the following: 
 
1. The map annexed to the TPO is invalid. The Regulation "requires a map annexed to an 
order to give a clear indication of the position of the trees, groups of trees or woodlands to 
which the order relates. In contradiction of this, the map annexed to the Order fails to give a 
clear indication of the position of the woodland to which it relates, instead outlining the whole 
of the Registered Title (including approximately 500m2 of land where no trees are present)" 
 
2. The council has not made the TPO publicly available so that "The failure to publish the Order 
as soon as practicable has prejudiced our clients' (and others') ability to make proper 
representations in relation to the Order". 
 
3. The Notice accompanying the TPO is in conflict with the requirements of the Regulations. " 
The accompanying notice…gives broad and vague reasons for serving the Order, none of 
which bear any specific relevance to the Application site. It is, therefore, submitted that the 
Notice lack sufficient information to enable members of the public a fair opportunity to rebut 
reasoning in favour of the Order. This is in direct conflict with the requirement of Regulation 
5(2)(a)". 
 
4. The objection offers that the amenity value of the woodland is not significant "The removal 
of the trees (although not currently proposed) would not have a significant negative impact on 
the local environment nor the public's limited ability to enjoy it. The Application Site does not 
provide any reasonable degree of public or ecological benefits, either now or in the future". 
 
5. The objection considers it is not expedient to confirm the order - " There is no risk of the 
trees at the Application Site being felled or damaged in ways which would have any impact on 
the amenity of the local area or any habitat" 

Page 89

Agenda Item 4.3



 

Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.3 
17 October 2023 

 
A full copy of the support and objection letters are appended to this report in the Appendix. 
 
RESPONSE TO OBJECTIONS 
It is your officers opinion that the map (or plan) annexed to the TPO is valid and 
fulfils the requirements of the Regulations.  The Regulations require that woodland being 
protected by a TPO is identified as an area on a map with a continuous black line and 
referenced as W1, W2, etc. The map annexed to the TPO clearly indicates an area referenced 
as W1 and the area is bounded by a continuous black line.  There are small areas of the site 
that are not covered by trees - an area at the southern end of the site and a linear strip running 
through the woodland for overhead services.  It is your officers opinion that open areas can 
form a natural part of any woodland, and that in time these areas can become wooded, and 
therefore it is valid to include such areas within the TPO.  
 
In summary, the Regulations state that as soon as practicable after making a TPO,  
the authority must serve all interested parties with a copy of the TPO, a notice that includes the 
reasons for making the TPO, information regarding objections and representations and that a 
copy of the order should be made available for inspection, free of charge, at all reasonable 
hours at the Stroud District Council Offices. The TPO is available to view at the council's offices 
from the day it is made, and as per the Regulations, all interested parties (such as the site 
owners) were sent a Notice and a copy of the TPO on the date the TPO was made. The TPO 
is now available to view online. 
 
Regulation 5(2)(a) requires the council to explain the reasons for making the TPO by  
stating these on the Notice accompanying the TPO.  The reasons for making the TPO are 
stated on the Notice as: 
 
 "The trees are worthy of a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) by virtue of their public amenity 
value and their value as a natural habitat. The tree could be affected by future development or 
changes in land use and the TPO is considered expedient to the full consideration of the 
amenity value the trees provide in any future changes. The trees (including groups of trees and 
areas of woodland) are important assets and of significant public amenity value and ecological 
value, the making of the TPO recognises these factors and helps safeguard the trees for future 
generations"  
 
It is your officer's opinion that the reasons stated above are clear and fulfil the requirements of 
the regulations.  The comment of support would indicate that the reasons have been 
understood by the public as well. 
 
A nationally recognised system of evaluation has been undertaken and the results  
indicated the woodland is worthy of a TPO.  The woodland is located at an intersection of 2 
well used public roads, it is clearly visible to large numbers of the public using the road and 
nearby residents.  The interest of the Parish Council and support for the TPO infers a clear 
public interest and value.  The amenity, ecological, and landscape values of woodlands is well 
documented.  The woodland is relatively young, therefore it is not unreasonable to suggest 
that the amenity, ecological and landscape value is likely to increase in time. 
 

Page 90

Agenda Item 4.3



 

Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.3 
17 October 2023 

The proposed sale of the site brought with it a degree of uncertainty regarding the future land 
use of the site; a potential/possible threat to the woodland.  This combined with the results of 
the evaluation exercise provides that it is expedient to have made, and to now confirm this 
TPO. The making and confirmation of a TPO does not prevent application for tree works, or 
development on the site.  The TPO ensures that (subject to certain exceptions) the trees cannot 
be felled or worked on without an application being made (and consent granted). It also 
recognises that the trees and the woodland are an important factor in any future land use 
changes or development. 
 
ASSESSMENT/APPRAISAL 
The woodland can be described as early mature in age; it is clearly not ancient, but nor it is 
recently planted.  Most of the trees are self-set and have grown as the site fell into disuse in 
approximately the last 30 years.  
 
The average height of the trees is presently around 10m - 12m with an stem diameter of 150 - 
200mm, although a few scattered larger trees has a stem diameter of up to 500mm. The 
species mix includes stands of sycamore, ash, apple, hawthorn, goat willow and oak. 
Sycamore and ash are the dominant species.  There is a developing understorey of holly, 
privet, beech and dogwood.  The species diversity within the woodland is likely to increase with 
time as the ash succumb to ash dieback disease which is present in the woodland. 
 
Some appropriate management such as selective thinning would perhaps be beneficial. 
 
Being located between 2 busy roads and at the edge of Eastcombe and Chalford, the woodland 
is clearly visible to the public, with landscape presence and ecological value.   
 
The TEMPO assessment undertaken resulted in a score and recommendation of "TPO 
defensible" 
 
 
OPTIONS AVAILABLE TO THE COMMITTEE:  
Members are reminded that they must properly consider the above issues before coming to a 
fully reasoned conclusion as to whether to:  
 
1) Confirm the Tree Preservation Order without modification; or  
 
2) To confirm the Tree Preservation Order as with modifications; or  
 
3) To not confirm the Tree Preservation Order.  
 
In doing so, Members must clearly give reasons as to why they have reached their decision.  
 
It should be noted that the Order cannot be modified to include further trees outside the 
boundary of the order as drawn. If consideration is required to be given to protecting further 
trees then a new order to cover those trees should be placed. The modification of the order 
can only exclude trees or draw the boundary smaller but it cannot increase it because the 
publicity and notification has not included any greater number of trees. 
 

Page 91

Agenda Item 4.3



 

Development Control Committee Schedule 
17/10/2023 

 

Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 4.3 
17 October 2023 

RECOMMENDATION  
The woodland contributes positively to amenity in the vicinity now and this value will continue 
and increase. Assessment has shown it is expedient to confirm this TPO. 
 
It is therefore recommended that TPO 0589 Land at Middle Hill, Eastcombe, Gloucestershire   
should be confirmed as served and long term protection provided for the trees.  
 
There is no right of appeal the confirmation of an order so the Authority and Members have to 
demonstrate that they have made their decision in an even-handed and open manner. 
Therefore, Members are asked to consider all the information before them including the 
comments and objections received, prior to making a decision to confirm the order. 
 
If the order isn't confirmed, the landowner can exercise their right to remove the trees. 

Page 92

Agenda Item 4.3



Page 93

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 94

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 95

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 96

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 97

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 98

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



W1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey

¯

Date: 17/07/2023

Stroud District Council
TPO/0589 Land at Middle Hill

0 0.03 0.06 0.09 0.120.015
km

1:1,500Scale
printed at A4 portrait

© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 100019682

Page 99

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Stroud District Council 
Arboricultural advice / consultation 

Site: Land at Eastcombe 

Date: 10.11.2022. 

Proposal: Potential new TPO on land located to the north of the interchange of Old 

Neighbourhood and Middle Hill. Grid Ref SO 89413 03884 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Comments:  

The 1.4 acre. site has been offered for sale by tender in November 2022.  There is concern 

that the sale of the land will result in the loss of the copse. I visited site on 10.11.2022 as 

assessed the site as a small woodland (copse) rather than as individual trees.   

The copse that makes up the vast majority of the site contains standards of sycamore, ash, 

apple, hawthorn, goat willow & oak.   Sycamore is by far the most dominant species 

followed by ash.   The trees are all in a normal physiological condition apart from a 

significant number of the ash trees which are displaying symptoms of ash dieback.  The 

average stem diameter of the standard trees is between 150 – 200mm, with a small number 

up to 500mm.  Many trees are multi-stemmed from the base suggesting these trees have 

been cut to ground level in the past.  The average height of the trees is approximately 10m, 

with some up 10 14m.   

The developing understorey is dominated by holly with hawthorn, privet, beech and 

dogwood also present. 

Site photographs 

 

 

 

 

     

 

 

Page 100

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Stroud District Council 
Arboricultural advice / consultation 

The copse appears to be primarily self-set in nature.  This does not detract from the amenity 

and habitat value it presently provides.  This could be improved by selective thinning/felling, 

particularly the ash, leaving the deadwood in situ, and either leaving the new trees to come 

through by natural regeneration, or with underplanting of native trees such as oak. 

A TEMPO assessment indicates the it would expedient to place a TPO on the copse 

(scheduled as a woodland). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Conclusion/Recommendation: 

It is expedient to place a TPO on the whole site as W1 (woodland). 

Page 101

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 102

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 103

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 104

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 105

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 106

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 107

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 108

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 109

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 110

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 111

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 112

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 113

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 114

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 115

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 116

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 117

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Page 118

Agenda Item 4.3

Appendix A



Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 5 
17 October 2023 
 

Development Management Service 

Application & Enforcement Performance Statistics Q2 2023 

 
Introduction 

The tables and graphs 1 – 4 provide application number and performance statistics for the first two 

quarters of 2023 (Q1 January to March and Q2 April to June) and for the previous 4 years for 

comparison. 

They reflect numbers of planning applications received and performance information regarding the 

percentage of applications determined against government targets. The figures do not include pre-

application submissions. 

Table and graphs 5 – 8 concentrate on enforcement statistics and related information. 

I hope the information is self-explanatory, but if you have any queries, please contact me or raise 

these at the meeting on 17th October 2023. 

 

List of Contents  

Table 1  Planning applications received  

Graph 1.1  Number of applications received per calendar year  

Graph 1.2   Applications received by quarter  

Graph 1.3  Comparative quarterly applications received 2019 – 2023 

Graph 1.4  Application numbers broken down into types (major, minor, other) 

 

Table 2   Planning applications determined – numbers and percentages  

Graph 2.1   Numbers of applications determined by calendar year  

Graph 2.2  Percentage of applications decided within statutory timescales 

Graph 2.3  Comparative quarterly applications determined in time  

 

Table 3   Percentage of applications determined in time by application type (major, minor, other)  

Graph 3.1  Percentage of major decided in time 

Graph 3.2  Percentage of minor applications decided in time 

Graph 3.3  Percentage of other applications determined in time  

 

Graph 4.1  Number of major applications determined compared to percentage determined within 

statutory timescales  

Graph 4.2  Number of minor applications determined compared to percentage determined within 

statutory timescales  

Graph 4.3  Number of other applications determined compared to percentage determined within 

statutory timescales  

 

Table 5   Number of enforcement enquiries received  

Graph 5.1  Enforcement enquiries received by calendar year 

Graph 5.2   Number of enforcement enquiries received by quarter 

 

Table 6   Enforcement enquiries received, closed and allocated Q1 & Q2 of 2023  

 

Table 7   Enforcement enquiries summary of inquiries received/closed over comparative years  

Graph 7.1  Status of enquiries over last 4 years  

 

Table 8  Enforcement/Breach of Condition notices served 

 

Table 9   List of notices served 2021 – to date

Page 119

Agenda Item 5



Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 5 
17 October 2023 
 

Development Management Applications 

Table 1: Planning applications received 

Development 
Management 

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 

No of 
applications 
received  
per quarter  
(Excludes  
Pre-applications)  

Q1 689 Q1 729 Q1 830 Q1 705 Q1 692 

Q2 611 Q2 706 Q2 823 Q2 604 Q2 686 

Q3  Q3 668 Q3 697 Q3 740 Q3 694 

Q4  Q4 643 Q4 698 Q4 722 Q4 651 

Total  1300* Total 2746 Total 3048 Total 2771 Total 2723 

* Figures up to 30.06.2023  

 Graph 1.2 Graphs 1.1 

2723 2771

3048

2746

1300

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
ap

p
lic

at
io

n
s 

 

Years 

Number of applications received per calendar 
year 

692 686 694
651

705

604

740 722

830 823

697 698
729

706
668

643
689

611

400

450

500

550

600

650

700

750

800

850

900

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
N

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

ap
p

lic
at

io
n

s 

Years & Quarters

Number of applications received by quarter 

Linear (Applications received)

P
age 120

A
genda Item

 5



Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 5 
17 October 2023 
 

 

 

Graph 1.3 

Graph 1.4 

 

692 705

830

729
689 686

604

823

706

611

694
740

697 668 651
722 698

643

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
ap

p
lic

at
io

n
s 

Quarters & Years 

Comparative quarterly applications received 2019 – 2023

13 14 9 18 14 8 5 10 9 18 10 13 8 9 8 13 8 5

111 118
95 100

120
90 105 108 98 102

86 84
113 110 112

83
105 113

300 293 294
276

299
276

326 312

392
422

343 350 358
332

300 294 302 290

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
ap

p
lic

at
io

n
s 

Years & Quarters

Applications received broken down into types (major, minor, other)

Major Minor Other

P
age 121

A
genda Item

 5



Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 5 
17 October 2023 
 

Table 2: Planning applications determined  

Development Management 

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 

No & in 
time  

No % in 
time 

No % in 
time 

No % in 
time 

No % in 
time 

No of 
applications 
determined 
per quarter  
(Excludes  
Pre-applications) 

Q1 567 89% 560 90% 604 93% 520 85% 513 88% 

Q2 567 90% 646 81% 698 91% 442 89% 578 86% 

Q3   606 84% 667 90% 635 95% 591 84% 

Q4   635 93% 583 91% 699 94% 595 88% 

Total & 
Average 

% for Year 

1134* 89% 2447 87% 2552 91% 2296 91% 2277 87% 

* Figures up to 30.06.2023  

Graph 2.2 Graph 2.1 

2277 2296

2552
2447

1134

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
ap

p
lic

at
io

n
s 

Years 

Numbers of applications determined by 
calendar year 

88%
86%

84%

88%
85%

89%

95%
94% 93%

91% 90%
91%

90%

81%
84%

93%

89% 90%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 d
ec

id
ed

 w
it

h
in

 t
im

e

Quarters & Years

Percentage of applications decided within statutory 
timescales

Linear (Percentage decided within time)

P
age 122

A
genda Item

 5



Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 5 
17 October 2023 
 

  

Table 3: Planning performance – Percentage of applications determined in time by application type (major, minor, other) 

 

Development 
Management 

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 

Major Minor  Other Major Minor Other Major Minor Other Major Minor Other Major Minor Other 

Percentage of 
Applications 
Determined 
Per Quarter 

Q1 71% 92% 93% 71% 87% 93% 88% 96% 95% 90% 91% 92% 100% 90% 94% 

Q2 90% 93% 94% 94% 79% 78% 90% 85% 86% 100% 96% 97% 100% 84% 92% 

Q3    88% 84% 85% 86% 87% 92% 100% 95% 98% 100% 89% 88% 

Q4    88% 95% 94% 
 

100% 91% 94% 100% 94% 99% 91% 91% 94% 

Graph 2.3 

88%

85%

93%

90%
89%

86%

89%

91%

81%

90%

84%

95%

90%

84%

88%

94%

91%

93%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

p
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 o
f 

ap
p

lic
at

io
n

s 
w

it
h

in
 t

im
e 

Years & Quarters 

Comparative quarterly applications determined in time 

P
age 123

A
genda Item

 5



Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 5 
17 October 2023 
 

 
Graph 3.2 

Graph 3.1 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 d
ec

id
ed

 w
it

h
in

 t
im

e 

Years & Quarters 

Percentage of major applications decided within time 

Major Applications Government Target

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 d
ec

id
ed

 w
it

h
in

 t
im

e 

Years & Quarters

Percentage of minor applications decided within time 

Minor Applications Government Target

P
age 124

A
genda Item

 5



Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 5 
17 October 2023 
 

 

 

Graph 4.1- Planning performance – Number of major applications determined compared to percentage determined within 

statutory timescales 

Graph 3.3 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 d
ec

id
ed

 w
it

h
in

 
ti

m
e 

Years & Quarters 

Percentage of other applications determined in time 

Other Applications Government Target

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 d
ec

id
ed

 w
it

h
in

 t
im

e

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
d

et
er

m
in

ed
 a

p
p

lic
at

io
n

s 

Major Applications 

Total Number of Decisions % Decided within time

Linear (Total Number of Decisions) Linear (% Decided within time)

P
age 125

A
genda Item

 5



Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 5 
17 October 2023 
 

Graph 4.2: Planning performance – Number of minor applications determined compared to percentage determined within 

statutory timescales 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 d
ec

id
ed

 w
it

h
in

 t
im

e

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
d

et
er

m
in

ed
 a

p
p

lic
at

io
n

s 

Minor Applications

Total Number of Decisions % Decided within time Linear (Total Number of Decisions) Linear (% Decided within time)

P
age 126

A
genda Item

 5



Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 5 
17 October 2023 
 

Graph 4.3: Planning performance – Number of other applications determined compared to percentage determined within statutory 

timescales 

 

 

 

 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 d
ec

id
ed

 w
it

h
in

 t
im

e

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
d

et
er

m
in

ed
 a

p
p

lic
at

io
n

s 

Other applications

Total Number of Decisions % Decided within time

Linear (Total Number of Decisions) Linear (% Decided within time)

P
age 127

A
genda Item

 5



Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 5 
17 October 2023 
 

Enforcement Statistics 

Table 5: Enforcement enquiries received 

Enforcement 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 

No of enquiries 
received per quarter 
(Excludes compliance  
& solicitor/estate agent 
queries) 

Q1 104 Q1 134 Q1 218 Q1 153 Q1 132 

Q2 134 Q2 113 Q2 158 Q2 168 Q2 128 

Q3  Q3 112 Q3 152 Q3 165 Q3 110 

Q4  Q4 82 Q4 115 Q4 118 Q4 126 

  Total 238* Total 441 Total 643 Total 604 Total 496 

Annual Percentage 
Increase/Decrease on 
previous year 

  
31% 

 
6% 

 
22% 

 
23% 

* Figure up to 30.06.2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Graph 5.1  

Graph 5.2 

496

604
643

441

238

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
en

q
u

ir
es

 r
ec

ei
ve

d

Years

Enforcement enquiries received by 
calendar year

132 128
110

126

153
168 165

118

218

158 152

115
134

113 112

82
104

134

0

50

100

150

200

250

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
en

q
u

ir
es

 

Years & Quarters

Number of enforcement enquiries received by quarter

Linear (Number of enquiries )

Page 128

Agenda Item 5



Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 5 
17 October 2023 
 

Table 6: Enforcement enquiries received, closed and allocated Q1 & Q2 of 2023 

 

Table 7: Enforcement enquiries summary of inquiries received/closed over comparative 

(Excludes compliance & 
solicitor/estate agent queries) 

2023  2022 2021 2020 2019 

Enquiries Received 238* 441 643 604 496 

Of these the number closed in 
the same year 

156* 
66% 

148 
34% 

371 
58% 

393 
64% 

323 
65% 

Of those closed above the 
average working days taken 
to resolve 

27 47 32 26 34 

No of Open Enquiries at the 
end of the year 

 293 
66% 

272 
42% 

219 
36% 

171 
35% 

No of Enquiries currently 
open as of 30.06.2023 

82* 154* 89* 23* 24* 

* Figures based on records up to 30.06.2023 

 

 

Table 8: Enforcement/Breach of condition notices served 

Notice Type 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 

Number of notices issued 1 4 
10 (one withdrawn and 

reissued) 
4 2 

* Figures based on records up to 30.06.2023 

  

238

441

643
604

496

156

287

554
581

472

82

154

89

23 24

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
en

q
u

ir
es

 

Years

Status of enquiries over last 4 years 

Enquiries Received Enquiries closed Open Enquiries

Enforcement Enquires  2023 

  Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Number of cases received  104 134     

Percentage of cases closed at triage this quarter 41% 37%     

Number of cases allocated for further investigation  61 84     

Total number of cases closed this quarter 90 353     

Graph 7.1 

Page 129

Agenda Item 5



Development Control Committee   Agenda Item 5 
17 October 2023 
 

Breakdown of Enforcement/Breach of Condition Notices Issued in 2021-2023 

Case Reference Address Notice Type 
Date 

issued 
Compliance 
Date/Update 

S.21/0735/UENG 
Land At 
Selsley Hill 
Stroud 

Enforcement 
Notice 

13.06.2023 18.01.2024  
Appeal In progress  

S.21/0560/BRCON 
2 Dursley Road 
Woodfields 
Dursley 

Breach of 
Condition 

05.10.2022 02.11.2022 
Notice withdrawn 
03.10.2023 

S.21/0560/BRCON 
2 Dursley Road 
Woodfields 
Dursley 

Breach of 
Condition 

21.07.2022 Notice Withdrawn 
03.10.2023 

S.21/0442/UENG 

Land Adjacent to  
Rose Cottage 
Stroud Road 
Whaddon 

Enforcement 
Notice 

18.05.2022 Notice complied with 
27.09.2023  

S.20/0691/UNCHU 

Yard and Premises 
Adjacent Halmers 
End 
Coaley 

Enforcement 
Notice 

08.04.2022 16.11.2022. Appeal 
Dismissed. Ongoing 
negotiations to secure 
compliance 

S.20/0695/UNCON 
1 Fort View Terrace 
Stroud 

Enforcement 
Notice 

07.12.2021 Appeal dismissed. 
Assigned to case officer 
for review 

S.20/0398/UENG 

West of The 
Weighbridge Inn 
Avening Road 

Enforcement 
Notice 

30.11.2021 Appeal dismissed. 
Ongoing negotiations 
over alternative. 

S.21/0054/UNCHU 
Land Parcel at Tyley 
Bottom Coombe 
Wotton-Under-Edge 

Enforcement 
Notice 

01.10.2021 06.05.2022 
Assigned to case officer 
for review 

S.21/0347/UNCHU 
Gladwish Fields 
Farmhill Lane 
Stroud 

Enforcement 
Notice 

30.09.2021 Notice complied with 
06.12.2021  

S.21/0557/UNBWK 

Ashen Plains Wood 
Waterley Bottom 
North Nibley 

Enforcement 
Notice 

30.09.2021 Appeal allowed  

S.20/0680/UNBWK 

New house at Site of 
Former Verona 
Cottage 
Sticky Lane 
Hardwicke 

Enforcement 
Notice 

23.09.2021 22.07.2022 
Alternative planning 
permission granted; 
monitoring build 

S.21/0033/UENG 
Horizons 
Main Road 
Whiteshill 

Enforcement 
Notice 

18.03.2021 Noticed complied with 
23.03.2022  

S.19/0074/UNBWK 

Land Opposite New 
Inn 
Waterley Bottom 
North Nibley 

Enforcement 
Notice 

03.03.2021 22.04.22 Appeal 
Dismissed. 
Waiting for the 
enforcement notice to 
be fully complied with 

S.21/0033/UENG 
Horizons 
Main Road 
Whiteshill 

Enforcement 
Notice  

25.02.2021 Notice withdrawn  

S.19/0184/UNBWK 
The Wad 
Damery Lane 
Berkeley 

Enforcement 
Notice 

16.02.2021 05.04.22 (appeal 
dismissed) With 
enforcement to action. 

 

Page 130

Agenda Item 5


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Planning Schedule and Procedure for Public Speaking
	4.1 Land Adjacent, 162 Arrowsmith Drive, Stonehouse, Gloucestershire S.23/1900/NEWTPO
	Item 4.1 - Appendix A

	4.2 Land At, Gunhouse Lane, Bowbridge, Stroud S.23/1901/NEWTPO
	Item 4.2 - Appendix A

	4.3 Land At, Middle Hill, Eastcombe, Stroud S.23/1902/NEWTPO
	Item 4.3 - Appendix A

	5 Planning and Enforcement KPI Statistics Q2 2023

